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Executive Summary 

Mission Statement: To prepare students for success in college by providing a high quality, 
personalized, relevant and rigorous education through exceptional teaching, innovative uses of 
technology and partnerships with families. 

Vision Statement:  Gem Prep will be a K-12, personalized, college preparatory school.  Through 
personalization, and by leveraging best practices in technology, the school will engage students in 
21st-century work, using competencies necessary for productive lives as citizens in a dynamic, 
increasingly competitive global world. 

Summary: Gem Prep is a college preparatory school. Every program, K-12, at Gem Prep is 
designed and aligned to prepare students for success in college and beyond.  The philosophical 
premise is that students need a tailored and rigorous instructional environment to help them 
develop the knowledge, skills, and competencies that will assist them in their success in college and 
their future. 

Gem Prep’s instructional methodology is to provide access to content designed to prepare students 
for the rigors of college-level instruction.  Because the elementary grade levels include foundational 
content, Gem Prep utilizes technology to adapt instruction to student needs, while simultaneously 
providing them with real-time feedback and remediation.  In the upper elementary grades, students 
have increased opportunities for student-centered learning, teamwork, and collaboration. Students 
take increased ownership of their learning as they prepare for their transition to middle school.  As 
students progress to secondary grade levels, the focus of student competency development shifts 
toward independence, autonomy, and exposure to new skills.  Students engage in courses in person, 
as well as online to gain skills of professional communication and collaboration with colleagues 
(other students and teachers) in other geographic locations. This mirrors skills necessary in an 
increasingly digital world where 58% of employees work from home one or more days per week1. 
Secondary students also participate in advisory courses, which are dedicated to the development of 
competencies such as time management skills, communication skills, and other habits of success. 

Gem Prep: Nampa is part of our network of schools which includes Gem Prep: Online; Gem Prep: 
Pocatello; Gem Prep: Meridian; Gem Prep: Meridian North; Gem Prep: Meridian South; Gem Prep: 
Twin Falls, Gem Prep: Idaho Falls, and Gem Prep: Rexburg.   

Community Need and Interest:  Across the State of Idaho there is an urgent need for more 
high-quality educational options that prepare students for post-secondary success. A Georgetown 
University study concluded that based on the workforce development needs in Idaho, “students and 
parents have to rethink their mindset about education because economic mainstays of farming, 
logging and mining are fading away.”2  Idaho’s population has one of the lowest percentages of 
college degrees in the nation. According to the Lumina Foundation, only five other states have a 
lower college attainment rate than Idaho.  

1 Americans are embracing flexible work- and they want more of it 
2
 Idaho seeks to change minds - and mindsets - about the value of education

https://drive.google.com/file/d/150JKcGBrYze1H4cnxtoyqkZ7EUiEYEYy/view?usp=sharing3vN2nLWg0rhkhsUChHI40BuoMiUa0
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/real-estate/our-insights/americans-are-embracing-flexible-work-and-they-want-more-of-it
https://www.idahoednews.org/news/idaho-seeks-to-change-minds-and-mindsets-about-the-value-of-education/
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Student Outcome Expectations:  Gem Prep expects students to graduate ready for the rigors of 
college with both the content knowledge and competencies necessary for success. Graduates will be 
effective problem solvers, life-long learners, self-motivated, and responsible citizens.
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Section I: Educational Programs 

Educational Philosophy 
The world is changing rapidly, and education needs to keep pace with the challenges and 
advancements students will meet in the real world.  Most Idaho students simply are not prepared 
for success in college, but Gem Prep seeks to make a change in Idaho.  Through the use of adaptive 
technology coupled with highly qualified teachers who use data to adapt instruction, Gem Prep is 
developing students who have the knowledge, characteristics, competencies, and mindsets that 
they will need in order to be successful in college and in the modern workplace.  

Gem Prep’s education model encompasses a graduate profile developed around the competencies, 
skills, and characteristics necessary for tomorrow’s leaders.  Gem Prep students will graduate with 
early college success in high school and with experiences and accomplishments in the areas of real-
world communication, rigorous academics, and superior independence and motivation. 

Proficiency in reading, writing, and math has traditionally been the entry-level threshold to the job 
market, but the 21st century’s global economy will require a workforce with both academic 
proficiencies and an additional set of skills in order to be competitive.  Future employees will need 
a more diverse skill set combining learning skills, literacy skills, and self-management skills. 
Students will need to be exceptional critical thinkers, problem solvers, innovators, communicators, 
and collaborators in order to thrive in the modern marketplace.  

The IBE Workforce Needs Survey indicates that students need to be prepared to use technology 
appropriately and strategically to solve problems, find information, evaluate sources, make 
connections, forge deeper understandings, and effectively communicate with others.  The survey 
further indicates that students need to be able to ask and answer challenging questions, solve 
problems, and reflect critically on their work and performance to inform future progress.  Students 
also need to demonstrate resilience and perseverance when faced with challenges and to 
collaborate productively with others from different backgrounds, experiences, and perspectives. 

Student Academic Achievement Standards 
In addition to the outcomes and targets included in the Performance Certificate, Gem Prep will 
track the following outcomes to ensure student progress: 

● Gem Prep’s 7th-12th grade students typically take one or more advanced opportunities
courses each school year, setting their trajectory for early college success in high school.
Completion of this goal will be tracked through the Student Information System (SIS), which
tracks enrollment data, student schedules, and grades.  Students receiving coursework in
above-grade-level content is part of how Gem Prep fulfills its mission of providing students with
a rigorous education.

● Gem Prep secondary students take online courses (in addition to their in-person courses).
This allows student access to courses and teachers not available in their own building.  This is
tracked through enrollment data, student schedules, and teacher assignments. These courses

https://drive.google.com/open?id=1Ox7pv2caQTNJEglF47CVDEU6ueeXwKeH
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are typically elective courses and assist students’ development of competencies such as time 
management and self-direction.   

● It is the intent of Gem Prep for students to meet or exceed the state proficiency and
growth average in English Language Arts and math on state standardized assessments.
Student academic outcomes are a key indicator of their readiness to complete rigorous
coursework in subsequent years.  Gem Prep will use the Idaho State Standardized Achievement
Test (ISAT) to measure both growth and achievement for students.  The Gem Prep mission
statement emphasizes high-quality instruction, which is synonymous with academic growth
and proficiency.

● Gem Prep intends to enroll students in grades K-12th that roughly mirror the student
population of local district demographics. Gem Prep believes that a diverse student body
enriches the education of all students and is essential to preparing students for a pluralistic
world.  It is also important to mirror the demographics of the surrounding district to
demonstrate that Gem Prep successfully serves all students.  Completion of this goal is currently
tracked through the SIS, which tracks student demographics and through the SDE district
report cards.  Gem Prep desires to prepare all students for success regardless of race, income,
and special education status.

Key Educational Design Elements, Curricular, Tools & 
Instructional Methods 
The key design elements of the Gem Prep model are as follows: 

● High Expectations and Rigor.  The school will be focused on 21st-century learning and
critical thinking skills, as well as state-standards alignment. Students will be prepared for post-
secondary education through dual credit courses taken during high school and the alignment
of curriculum with state standards.  The quality and rigor of student work is framed by
competency-based standards planning and challenging learning objectives and assessments.

● Personalization.  The school’s instructional model is built on the belief that each student
brings unique strengths and challenges to their learning experience and must be supported
accordingly.  Student learning includes adaptive online learning programs, working toward
informed post-secondary goals, and utilizing flexible time at the secondary level for self-
directed learning.  In the K-5 model, students often use a station rotation model, and the 6-12
model will use a flexible college-prep learning model. Differentiated instruction will occur in
these pathways—online instruction, as well as elective courses.  Teachers also do targeted
small group instruction as a form of intervention and acceleration.

● Data. Gem Prep will be grounded in the importance of using data to drive instruction.  The
school will use formative assessment and other data to continually adjust instruction and
necessary interventions.

● Innovation.  Very much related to the above, the importance of continual improvement and
innovation will be a focus for Gem Prep.  The organization will constantly review performance
data and make adjustments to the school model and practices as necessary.
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As with most innovation, Gem Prep realizes that adjustments and improvements are often 
necessary as these ideas are put into practice in real-world settings.  Gem Prep is committed to 
evaluating the academic impact of its instructional model and making any necessary adjustments in 
order to meet all academic goals.  The School is committed to vigilance in ongoing assessments, 
evaluations, and adjustments to facilitate successful student outcomes. 

Elementary School Model: Building on Best Practices 

The elementary school model (Grades K-5) at Gem Prep (GP) is built around the following practices: 

● Rigorous, deeply supported learning. Students are engaged in highly interactive learning
environments designed to challenge each student. This rigorous learning environment
necessitates a support structure to help students reach a high bar.

● Data-driven instruction. Teachers provide frequent formative assessments and are
continually refining their instruction based on a careful review of student progress data.

● Competency development. GP schools incorporate competency development into their
academic schedule.  GP schools have time dedicated in their weekly schedule for teachers and
counselors to focus on competency development with their students.

● Scaffolded independence and leadership. In the upper elementary grades, students have
increased opportunities for student-centered learning, teamwork, and collaboration. Students
grow in self-awareness and self-discipline as they prepare for their transition to the 6th grade.

Secondary Model: Cutting Edge Innovation 

The Gem Prep secondary model is uniquely innovative both with regard to use of human capital 
and also redefining what students can achieve during their high school years. Key components of 
the Gem Prep secondary model include: 

● Access to high quality teachers across the state.  When necessary, students can access
excellent teachers regardless of their location through the use of technology.

● Exposure to diverse learning environments.  Secondary students at Gem Prep engage in
both online and in-person learning.  By learning in these varied ways, students develop the
skills to communicate and work in a variety of environments.

● Tuition Free Early College. Gem Prep students pursue either a full two-year associate's
degree or an 18+ college credit pathway during their high school experience at Gem Prep.  The
Gem Prep model is strategically structured to cover college costs so that students do not pay
for their college tuition costs while in high school.

● Advisory. Students participate in an advisory program throughout their time with Gem Prep.
For grades 6-10 the content in the advisory program is structured around non-academic skills
such as goal setting, time management, and communication skills.  In 11th and 12th grade the
advising program shifts its focus to college applications, FAFSA, scholarship applications,
college visits, program research, resume development and improvement.
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By utilizing a variety of education tools (virtual classrooms, dual credit courses, on-campus face-to-
face instruction, flexible schedules, etc.) students are able to create an educational plan that meets 
their personal skills, abilities, and interests, and which facilitates their progress toward their own 
goals.  

Gem Prep: Nampa has demonstrated a strong track record of success.  GPN’s 2024 ISAT Math 
proficiency scores were 15% higher than the district while ELA and Science proficiency scores were 
6% higher than the district’s.  Gem Prep: Nampa also showed substantial tier 3 IRI growth in the 
23-24 SY at 15% compared to 12% at the district. (See Appendix H8: Gem Prep Assessment Results.)

Gem Prep: Nampa is also part of a network of Gem Prep schools which has collectively 
demonstrated a strong track record of success. Collectively, Gem Prep’s ISAT Math and ELA 2024 
proficiency scores are 13% and 12% higher than the state average. Gem Prep students also 
complete dual college credit at high rates, with approximately 38% of Gem Prep students leaving 
high school with associate’s degrees. Additionally, GP schools averaged 15% in growth from Fall 

2023 to Spring 2024 on the Idaho Reading Indicator (ISIP). During the most recent administration 
on the IRI (Spring 2024), every Gem Prep school performed higher than their local school district 
on their K-3 IRI outcomes in both proficiency and growth.  

Curriculum 

Gem Prep believes that access to high-quality learning materials is central to the effective 
instruction of students.  Accordingly, the school utilizes a rigorous, sustainable, evidence-based 
curriculum that provides students with optimal access to information and learning opportunities.  
Gem Prep curriculum aligns to state standards, which define the knowledge and skills students 
should have within their K-12 education.  Gem Prep has established rigorous performance 
objectives, and additionally ensures each curricula meets the following qualifications: (a) rigor 
meets or exceeds state standards; (b) curriculum is research and evidence based. 

All Gem Prep core academic curriculum undergoes an extensive review process by the curriculum 
adoption committee.  This committee reviews the curriculum on an annual basis to ensure core 
academic content meets or exceeds content standards and maintains research-based efficacy for 
their specific student demographic (Idaho Administrative Rules IDAPA 08.02.03.102). The 
remainder of this section outlines current curricular selections but will inevitably change as the 
committee reviews and updates curriculum.  

Gem Prep’s ELA (English Language Arts) curriculum is Amplify Core Knowledge Language Arts for 
grades K-2, CommonLIT Pro for grades 3-6, and Pearson MyPerspectives for grades 7-11.  
Additionally, grades K-3 will receive daily instruction using Reading Mastery to support 
foundational ELA skills. Gem Prep will also provide all K-6 students with individualized ELA 
intervention and enrichment through the computer-adaptive reading program, Istation. Each 
curriculum has been strategically selected for each grade or grade band to provide many 
opportunities for rich and rigorous evidence-based discussions and writing about texts to build 
strong literacy skills. Students build skills in reading, writing, speaking and listening, and they 
integrate language work throughout. These researched and reviewed curriculum meets rigorous 
expectations in both alignment and usability ratings (Amplify CKLA EdReport; CommonLIT Report; 
MyPerspectives EdReport; Reading Mastery WWC Report). 

https://www.istation.com/Reading
https://www.edreports.org/reports/overview/amplify-ckla-skills-2020
https://www.commonlit.org/blog/new-research-shows-accelerated-reading-comprehension-gains-with-commonlit/
https://www.edreports.org/reports/overview/myperspectives-2017
https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/Intervention/729#ta-1
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Gem Prep: Nampa 
Gem Prep’s Math curriculum is Zearn Math for grades K-8 and HMH Into AGA for high school.  Each 
curriculum allows students to learn across multiple instructional formats, rotating between 
learning independently with self-paced digital lessons and working with their teacher and 
classmates in small groups.  Research indicates each curriculum successfully increases student 
understanding and proficiency in mathematics.  These mathematics curricula meet rigorous 
expectations in both alignment and usability ratings (Zearn Math EdReport;  HMH Into AGA 
EdReport). 

Gem Prep’s science curriculum for grades K- 5 is Amplify Science, OpenSciEd for grades 6-8, and 
Inspire Science for grades 9-11. Amplify Science blends hands-on investigations, literacy-rich 
activities, and interactive digital tools to empower students to think, read, write, and argue like real 
scientists. OpenSciEd is aligned to meet modern science standards and engages students in 
practices that drive their learning. Inspire Science brings phenomena to the forefront of learning 
through inquiry-based and hands-on investigations. Students experience real-world scientific 
concepts in a three-dimensional learning experience to elevate their critical thinking, deepen their 
understanding, and encourage creative problem-solving for scientific phenomena. (Amplify Science 
EdReport; OpenSciEd EdReport, Inspire Science Research).  

Gem Prep’s Social Studies Curriculum is MyWorld Social Studies curriculum.  In preparing students 
to be college and career ready, MyWorld aligns with the new framework for social studies 
instruction, known as the C3 Framework, to help educators expand social studies and civic 
education in the classroom.  MyWorld aligns with Idaho Content Standards (Savvas, 2013). 

To meet Gem Prep’s performance objectives and gain experience communicating and learning in a 
variety of ways, students take courses both in person and online. All students interact with digital 
content using Chromebooks. Gem Prep utilizes the learning management system, Canvas, to design 
content for all core classes in grades K-12.  Canvas provides a consistent framework for 
instructional delivery, assessment, and access to academic progress for all students in grades K-12. 

In addition to Gem Prep’s use of a learning management system, the school will also use computer 
adaptive technology to provide individualized learning.  Computer adaptive programs, such as 
Zearn and Istation, assess each individual student and adapt the activities and assessment 
questions based on the student’s response.  Based on the student’s assessment results and 
individual abilities, students are able to individually engage with digital activities daily. 

Gem Prep also utilizes technology to support safe and positive classroom environments such as 
Class Dojo for K- 5 and GoGuardian for K-12.  Class Dojo is a digital management program teachers 
use to communicate with elementary students and their parents.  Student behavior is tracked and 
celebrated, student portfolios and grades are shared with parents, and staff members are able to 
share daily messages, videos, tutorials, updates, and pictures with students and families in a 
secured digital application. GoGuardian provides teachers and administrators access to observe 
student technology use, which facilitates students staying on task to maximize learning time.  The 
program is also a security system to ensure students are only accessing safe and appropriate 
academic content when they engage with digital learning.  

The school prioritizes in three central categories: (a) acquisition and retention of high-quality 
teachers, (b) innovative, individualized instructional models, and (c) development and 
implementation of college-ready competencies.  Gem Prep students deserve the best teachers and 
staff.  Accordingly, Gem Prep developed a thorough hiring process and offers all teachers a 1-year 

https://www.edreports.org/reports/overview/zearn-2018
https://www.edreports.org/reports/detail/hmh-into-aga-2020-HS
https://www.edreports.org/reports/detail/hmh-into-aga-2020-HS
https://www.edreports.org/reports/overview/amplify-science-2022
https://www.edreports.org/reports/overview/amplify-science-2022
https://www.edreports.org/reports/overview/openscied-2023
https://www.mheducation.com/prek-12/program/microsites/MKTSP-AIB05M0/research.html
https://www.savvas.com/index.cfm?locator=PS19Ie&PMDbSiteId=2781&PMDbSolutionId=6724&PMDbSubSolutionId=&PMDbCategoryId=815&PMDbSubCategoryId=25661&PMDbSubjectAreaId=&PMDbProgramId=85502
https://www.instructure.com/canvas/
https://www.classdojo.com/
https://www.goguardian.com/
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contract.  This helps ensure that students have consistent access to teachers who thoroughly 
support the development of all students in Gem Prep’s college preparatory model.  

To meet Gem Prep’s rigorous performance objectives, the school uses an instructional model with a 
variety of course formats to meet the individual needs of their unique population.  Student learning 
is additionally enhanced through differentiation via adaptive technology, and grade and subject 
acceleration. 

Per ESEA 4310, Gem Prep has identified a specific set of educational objectives, which include the 
development of the Gem Prep Graduate Profile and implementation of college-ready competencies.  
All students should have access to a high-quality education built upon a strong academic 
foundation.  Gem Prep provides all kindergarten students with tuition-free, full-day kindergarten, 
to begin laying this critical foundation.  All students begin building their college competencies in 
kindergarten with their K-12 graduate profile focused on the following areas: (a) college planning 
and saving, (b) evidence of college-ready competencies, (c) college and career exploration and 
coaching, (d) academic growth, and (e) self-advocacy. 

Estimate of student time spent in each of the learning modalities 

The charts below are sample weekly schedules for Grade 2, Grade 8, and Grade 10. The schedules 
illustrate approximately how much time students will spend in each of the learning modalities 
during a given week. 

During the Wednesday early release, students have a menu of opportunities to further their 
learning.  In addition to core learning activities, students can participate in on-campus 
extracurricular activities (like student council, math club, STEM club, etc.,), attend College Prep 
Academy to take advantage of tutoring services.  

SAMPLE GRADE SCHEDULE: GRADE 2 
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SAMPLE GRADE SCHEDULE: GRADE 8 
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SAMPLE GRADE SCHEDULE: GRADE 10 AA & 18+ Pathway 

When students who have not yet mastered self-direction skills are working in asynchronous blocks, 
they will be supported by certified teachers and/or paraprofessionals providing tutoring, course 
assistance monitoring, etc.  This additional structure assists students with necessary tools, time 
management and support, and also provides a level of expertise and encouragement toward 
student success. 

Strategies for Serving Special Populations 

Gem Prep believes that all students deserve and can succeed in an atmosphere of high expectations. 
However, many students need additional support to succeed in such an environment.  A Response 
to Intervention (RTI) system is implemented at Gem Prep to identify and intervene with students 
who struggle academically or behaviorally while the challenges are still relatively small.  Teachers 
are trained in and expected to utilize interventions for students who need additional support.  
Further, secondary students meet with their college preparatory advisory class to learn non-
academic competencies such as goal setting, mindsets, and habits of success.  The teacher for the 
class also meets individually with students to review their future goals, their progress toward 
previous goals, and to reflect on progress since the last meeting.  During this time, the teacher 
checks key indicators with the students (such as grades, behavior data, and attendance) and 



Gem Prep: Nampa 

SECTION 1: Educational Programs 14 

provides assistance or direction for the student.  This is another place where students who face 
unique contextual challenges can get help or can be referred for additional help.  The teacher’s role 
is to intervene and assist before problems have snowballed, but also to provide a place for the 
student to reflect and improve. 

Teachers norm around a definition of rigor and what it looks like in the classroom.  Teachers are 
trained to help all students succeed, to ensure that students from educationally disadvantaged 
circumstances are provided the same intellectual rigor as every other student, even if they need 
additional support. Gem Prep teachers are asked to hold the bar high for all students, but provide 
robust support for students who struggle.  Some students may even need behavioral or academic 
intervention plans, and teachers, parents, and administrators are expected to fully integrate these 
plans. 

The school provides a continuum of services for students who require special education services.  
Students in need of intervention services are identified as outlined in the Individuals with 
Disabilities Act (IDEA).  Once identified, the student's Individualized Educational Program (IEP) 
team establishes the necessary intervention strategy.  The IEP team consists of the classroom 
teacher, a special education teacher, parents, and an administrator.  The team first considers 
support options, which allow students to spend as much time as possible with peers who do not 
receive special education services (LRE: Least Restrictive Environment). 

After determining what appropriate services and supports can be provided within the regular 
classroom, supplementary aids and interventions may be provided within the special education 
classroom, based on each student’s unique needs. Gem Prep’s special education focus is always on 
the student’s abilities and not their disabilities.  Gem Prep provides services for students as 
determined by the IEP, such as speech and language services, counseling, behavioral intervention, 
school-based occupational therapy, psychological services, etc. Gem Prep’s special education staff 
meets, or exceeds, the requirements as outlined by the Idaho State Department of Education.  They 
undergo continuous professional development to persist in meeting the needs of students with 
disabilities at a high level. 

Gem Prep: Nampa has two (2) certified special education teacher(s) on staff along with other 
support personnel with physical facilities that are appropriately accessible to permit access by 
students with disabilities.  GP will also provide funding and contractual arrangements to ensure 
that Gem Prep students with disabilities will receive special education and services as required in 
IDEA and outlined on the students’ IEPs. 

Gem Prep will provide transportation for special needs students if it is determined that this is 
necessary to provide for a Free and Appropriate Public Education (FAPE). 

Professional Development Plan 

Gem has developed a strategic model to support staff development, evaluation, and retention.  This 
framework places emphasis in the following areas: (a) New staff onboarding, (b) intentional culture 
building, (c) ongoing, differentiated, relevant professional development, (d) aligned observation 
and coaching practices, and (e) Gem Prep leadership pipeline.  Gem Prep believes in the importance 
of high-quality professional learning for all team members, especially new practitioners.  Because of 
this belief, the network schedules professional development for all new and returning staff prior to 
the beginning of each school year.  This professional development time is dedicated to onboarding 
and unifying all staff by: (a) introducing and updating staff on curriculum, (b) aligning individual, 
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school, and network goals, (c) clarifying staff and student expectations, (d) providing work time for 
grade, school, network, and vertical alignment, (e) training and practice of Common Pictures of 
Excellence, (f) developing collective lesson plans and practicing instruction and, (g) building 
positive school and network cultures of trust and support. 

Gem Prep recognizes the importance of cultivating positive student, staff, classroom, school, and 
community culture. The Gem Prep Culture Guide outlines school values, expectations, and steps of 
celebration and correction.  

Gem Prep utilizes ongoing professional development to meet their rigorous performance 
objectives. In addition to the professional development at the beginning of the year, the network 
also dedicates time during student early release days for professional development.  Weekly PD 
focuses on reviewing student work, evaluating data, intellectual preparation of lesson plans, and 
culture building through building-level meetings.  Full PD days scheduled periodically throughout 
the school year provide multiple learning pathways for individual needs based on observation 
results, student achievement data, administrative input, and staff and student feedback. 
Practitioners are also provided the opportunity to self-select relevant PD aligned with their 
strengths, areas of opportunity, and educational trends. 

Gem Prep believes Common Pictures of Excellence (CPE), aligned observation practices, and 
strategic coaching strategies lead to instructional fidelity, excellence, and student achievement. CPE 
provides clear and aligned expectations of what excellent instruction and, more importantly, 
excellent learning looks like.  The CPE define and detail instructional strategies and procedures 
such as: (a) hallway behavior, (b) learning posture, (c) response strategies, (d) habits of discussion, 
(e) annotating text, (f) classroom and school transitions, (g) read aloud routines, and (h) partner
work.  CPE provides aligned management and instructional strategies to create safe, academically
focused learning spaces.  Because Gem Prep utilizes CPE, administrators are able to align
observation rubrics, expectations, practices, and coaching strategies. Gem Prep administrators,
including network leadership and building leadership, meet regularly to review videos of Gem Prep
teaching instruction, calibrate evaluation criteria, develop collective active steps, and practice
coaching scripts and strategies.  This alignment of expectations, observations, and coaching ensures
implementation fidelity of the educational model.



Gem Prep: Nampa 

SECTION 2: Financial and Facilities Plans 16 

Section II: Financial and Facilities Plans  

Fiscal Philosophy and Spending Priorities 
The Gem Prep board and staff believe that thorough financial training, expertise, and accountability 
are all essential elements of a successful school.  For that reason, Gem Prep employs staff 
experienced in successful financial management. Financial indicators are reviewed each month as 
part of the board data dashboard.  Gem Prep seeks to always have at least two board members with 
financial expertise, who serve on the Board Finance Committee.  The finance staff attends regular 
training to keep their knowledge current and to stay abreast of any changes in the law or financial 
practice.  

The Board is confident in the financial projections due to their grounding in current Gem Prep 
schools.  While the approach is always to budget conservatively, Gem Prep also bases the financial 
projections on historical data and experience with existing Gem Prep schools.  Gem Prep’s spending 
priorities are focused on student investments, particularly on staff and instructional programming. 
Every major expenditure is evaluated on how it impacts student outcomes. 

One indicator that is of particular importance is the fund balance.  The Gem Prep board of directors 
believes maintaining a healthy fund balance is essential to the preservation of the financial integrity 
of the school.  A healthy fund balance provides stability to students and staff through unanticipated 
interruptions in cash flow, changes in funding formulas or other regulations, emergencies, the 
ability to invest in opportunities and meet the long-term goals of the school and organization.  As a 
demonstration of our commitment to this philosophy, the organization’s brick and mortar Gem 
Prep Schools have an average of seven months of operating reserves.  The fund balance is one of the 
standards against which the school’s fiscal performance can be judged. 

Transportation and Food Service Plans 
Transportation 

Gem Prep understands the importance of providing student transportation and is currently 

contracting out bus services with a local transportation company. The school will follow all state 

reporting requirements for transportation. During renewals, a formal bid process as outlined by the 

Idaho State Department of Education and Idaho Code will be followed.  Any transportation 

provided will be in alignment with Idaho code. 

Students with special needs will be provided transportation in accordance with the requirements of 

state and federal law.  A student’s IEP will determine if transportation is required and the best 

method of transportation.  All transportation will adhere to the IDEA.  The school will provide 

transportation of field trips, excursions, and extracurricular activities through contracted services 

and supported through donations from families and philanthropic avenues. 
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Food Services 

Gem Prep believes that no child should go without food and currently provides daily meals under 

the National School lunch program. Gem Prep: Nampa has completed a five-year review through the 

Child Nutrition Program. The lunch program is currently staffed with 1.5 FTE and managed by the 

Operations Manager. The operations team manages all reporting requirements, FRL forms, direct 

certifications, and lunchroom and serving staff.      

As a part of the National Lunch Program, free and reduced data is collected annually by individual 

FRL forms and/or through Direct Certification.  The forms are collected at the beginning of each 

school year.  

Families are notified about the nutrition options through various communication avenues such as 

on-campus events like ‘back to school night’, social media, flyers, teacher newsletters, principal 

newsletters, emails, etc. 

Financial Management and Monitoring Plan 
Gem Prep has developed a sustainable and comprehensive operational and financial plan including 
curriculum, technology, staffing, facilities, and support services. The network of Gem Prep schools 
shares administrative and business services in order to direct financial resources towards 
supporting the Gem Prep college preparatory model. 

The Board of Directors is the governing body for all Gem Prep schools and is a seasoned group of 
professionals with expertise in areas such as finance, law, real estate, policy, and governance. 
Further strengthening the board, the current board chair has ten years of governance experience 
with Gem Prep schools. In addition, the leadership team has successful experience operating other 
Gem Prep schools. (See Appendix E2: Leadership Team Resumes.) 

Gem Prep will comply with the financial reporting requirements of Idaho Code Section 33-701 (5-
10). The Board will have prepared and published, within one hundred twenty (120) days from the 
last day of each fiscal year, an annual statement of financial condition and report of the school as of 
the end of such fiscal year in a form prescribed by the State Superintendent of Public Instruction 
pursuant to Idaho Code Section 33-701(5)(6). 

Such annual statements shall include, but not be limited to, the amounts of money budgeted and 
received, and from what sources, and the amounts budgeted and expended for salaries and other 
expenses by category.  The annual statement will be submitted to the State Department of 
Education and the charter authorizer as required by law. 

The Board will present and discuss all financial matters at public sessions and will post all financial 
results, budgets, audits, contracts and disbursements electronically on the Gem Prep website.  The 
Board will hold an annual public hearing where the budget is discussed in detail.  The Board will 
post notices of all meetings in accordance with all applicable laws.  
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The school will place copies of all teacher contracts and vendor contracts on the school website.  In 
addition, the school will place a listing of all disbursements on the website and make available all 
such information upon request. 

Annually, Gem Prep will file with the State Department of Education such financial and statistical 
reports as may be required pursuant to Idaho Code Section 33-701(7).  Gem Prep will destroy all 
claims or vouchers paid five years from the date the same was canceled and paid pursuant to Idaho 
Code Section 33-701(8). 

Gem Prep will review the school budget periodically and make appropriate budget adjustments.  
Amended budgets shall be submitted to the State Department of Education pursuant to Idaho Code 
Section 33-701(9). 

Gem Prep will invest any money coming into the hands of the school in investments permitted by 
section 67-120 of the Idaho Code. 

The Executive Director (CEO) and CFO compile a proposed budget based on the state funding 
formula with input from principals and department administrators.  The CFO will present the 
proposed budget to the Board Finance committee.  After the budget is developed, Gem Prep will 
publish a budget hearing notice per Idaho Code.  The finance committee then recommends the final 
budget for adoption to the Board of Directors.  Gem Prep posts the approved budget on the school’s 
website and submits a copy to SDE. 

The board of directors will be responsible for the financial management of Gem Prep.  The board of 
directors’ role in financial management will include, but is not be limited to the following: 

● Establishment of operating and capital budgets.

● Long-term financial planning and preparations.

● Monthly review of budget-to-actual financial performance providing for adequate oversight of

financial performance and the opportunity to adjust expenditures as necessary to ensure

operation within budget.

● Monthly review of cash flow projections.

● Establishment of internal financial policies consistent with the requirements of state law and

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles to provide for adequate financial controls.

(Appendix H1: Audit Report, Appendix H2: 2425 Budget Summary)



Gem Prep: Nampa 

SECTION 2: Financial and Facilities Plans 19 

Facilities Plan 
The 40,000 sq ft two story facility at 310 W Iowa Ave. was constructed in 2017-18 on 
approximately 4.8 acres of land.  Construction was completed in August of 2018. The project 
included construction of the facility, land improvements for a parking lot, and approx. 1 acre of play 
field and hard top play area for students.  The facility was originally leased from Building Hope with 
the intent to purchase.  In February of 2022 the school closed on financing through the moral 
obligation program to purchase the facility from Building Hope.  During the summer of 2023 the 
school constructed a new bus loop to separate bus and car traffic.  The bus loop was constructed on 
undeveloped land the school owned.  The space breakdown for the facility is as follows: 

Area Size (sf) Quantity Total Size 

Classrooms (K-5) 750 14 10,500 

Classrooms (6-12) 1,000 6 6,000 

SpEd Space 394 1 394 

Gym/Cafeteria/Multipurpose 2,040 1 2,040 

Fab Lab 1,043 1 1,043 

Flex Rooms 477 2 954 

Commons 1,719 2 3,438 

Collab Rooms 129 11 1,421 

Admin, Reception, Conf. 900 1 900 

Circulation, Kitchen, Bathroom, Storage, Tech, Stairs (40% of total) 13,310 1 13,310 

Total: 40,000 

At the K-5 grade levels, Gem Prep will require classrooms that will allow teachers and students the 
ability to move around and re-organize their rooms to accommodate the station rotation model.  
Each classroom will have access to high-capacity wireless internet and Chromebooks for students.  
In high school, the facility will need to accommodate an open concept capable of adapting to the 
needs of the students and teachers.  Common areas will be created with various learning pods to 
allow for student collaboration, project work, and students taking online classes.  

Gem Prep will ensure that all facilities meet state and federal health and safety laws and meet 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements.  The school leadership will comply with state 
laws to have annual safety inspections of their facilities and address any issues that are found 
during those inspections. 

Gem Prep will remain in compliance with applicable state and federal guidelines as provided in 
Section 39-4130, Idaho Code, and the ADA.  The School will provide certification that the facilities 
meet all requirements for health, safety, fire, and accessibility for those with disabilities.  Gem Prep 
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will continue to provide regular inspections of the facilities for health, safety, and fire compliance 
and will provide copies of these reports upon request. 

(Appendix H3: Moral Obligation Closing Memorandum, Appendix H4: Moody’s Credit Rating for 
Gem Prep: Nampa, Appendix H5: Moody’s Updated Credit Rating) 
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Section III: Board Capacity and 
Governance Structure 

Governance Structure 

Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc. (GIS) will be the charter holder (the board of directors) and 
will govern Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC, pursuant to GIS’s existing Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, and 
Board Policies.  Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc., is a non-profit organization organized and 
managed under the Idaho Nonprofit Corporation Act.  The Corporation is organized exclusively for 
educational purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986 (“IRS Code”), or the corresponding provisions of any future federal income tax code.  GIS will 
be the sole member of Gem Prep: Nampa (GPN).  

(Appendix C1: GIS Articles of Incorporation, C2: GIS Bylaws, C3: GPN Certificate of Organization, LLC, 
and GPN Operating Agreement) 

Board of Directors Responsibilities 

The Board will be responsible for the financial health of the school, managing the school’s funds 
responsibly and prudently while prioritizing spending with consideration given to the school’s 
mission, vision, and educational program goals.  The Board will make every effort to establish 
financial practices and reporting that result in accuracy and transparency.  Board members will 
participate in fundraising activities as deemed necessary and appropriate by the Board.  Board 
members will put the interests of the school first and will refrain from using the position for 
personal or partisan gain. 

Board business conducted at Board meetings will be done per the bylaws and applicable laws (See 
Appendix C1 & C2: Articles of Corporation & Bylaws).  Board members will commit to the ethical 
standards set forth in the Ethical Standards Agreement (See Appendix H7: Board Ethics Statements). 

Relationship between the Board of Directors and School Administration 
Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho Board of Directors is the governing board of the Gem Prep school 
and has ultimate control over the school and all employee and parent concerns.  If a parent or 
employee has a concern, they will follow the process outlined on the Board of Directors section of 
the Gem Prep website. This process includes seeking resolution first with the teacher, principal, or 
other administrator as relevant before bringing their concern to the Board of Directors.  
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The organization chart below demonstrates the reporting and interaction structure for Gem Prep: 

The Board of Directors is responsible for: 

● Policy development and review

● The financial health of the school

● Administrative and operational oversight (not day-to-day operations)

● The legal affairs

● The adoption, advocating and oversight of the school budget, which is responsive to school

goals and meets the needs of all students

● Conducting an annual self-evaluation of its own leadership, governance, and teamwork

● Communicating and interpreting the school’s mission and other policy-related matters to the

public and stakeholders

● Ensuring there is a supportive, smoothly operating leadership team, which advocates for both

children and the community

● Selecting and evaluating the Executive Director

The Executive Director (CEO) works under the direction of the Board. 
Responsibilities include, but are not limited to: 

● Implement the vision and mission of the school

● Recommend to the Board the hiring of personnel

● Fulfill state charter school requirements

● Ensure Gem Prep meets the performance requirements outlined in the performance certificate

● Execute the policies of the Board

● Act as the intermediary between the Board and stakeholders

● Make recommendations to the Board on issues facing the school
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The Chief Financial Officer works under the direction of the Executive Director. 
Responsibilities include but are not limited to: 

● Monthly and annual financial reporting to the board and outside entities

● Budgeting

● Day to day financial operations and accounting

● Financial records

● Purchasing and contracts

● State reporting requirements

● Payroll

● Insurance

● Benefits

● Accounts Payable

Chief Operating Officer works under the direction of the Executive Director. 
Responsibilities include but are not limited to: 

● Facilities management

● Supervise school operations employee

● Transportation

● Nutrition

● Building security and student safety

● Technology

Chief Academic Officer works under the direction of the Executive Director. 
Responsibilities include but are not limited to: 

● Develop curriculum, instruction and assessment

● Recommend special services

● Develop and oversee professional development

● Supply annual educational reports

● State assessment planning

● Oversee hiring educational staff and provide recommendations

Principal Supervisor works under the direction of the Chief Academic Officer. 
Responsibilities include but are not limited to: 

● Supervise and evaluate school principals

● Create and oversee principal’s professional growth plans

● Assists CAO with planning, implementing, and evaluating instructional programs

● Facilitate and support the development and implementation of innovative instructional

programs
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● Assists principal to develop, organize and implement models of intervention assistance for

schools with low student achievement; and continuous improvement for schools with average-

to-high student achievement

● Supports CAO in delivering written and oral presentations on academic accountability to

various stakeholders

● Maintains liaison with professional civic, volunteer and other community agencies and groups

Principal works under the direction of the Principal Supervisor. 
Responsibilities include but are not limited to: 

● Parent and public relations

● Building school-wide community and culture

● Student and staff discipline

● Participate in curriculum development

● Supervise student scheduling

● Conduct all staff evaluations

● Provide teacher mentoring and coaching

● Resolve personnel issues

● Oversee substitute teacher roster, training and evaluation

● Student enrollment and records

● Attendance

Board Member Qualifications 

The appointed Board of Directors will be legally accountable for the operation of Gem Prep.  The 
school is committed to compliance with all federal and state laws and rules and acknowledges its 
responsibility for identifying essential laws and regulations and complying with them.  The board of 
directors not only seeks potential board members who support Gem Prep students but also who 
have the specific skill set needed on the board. 

The Board of Directors is composed of a talented and seasoned group of professionals and leaders.  
Board expertise and strength covers all necessary governance areas such as education, law, real 
estate, strategy, finance, policy, and management. Further strengthening the board, the current 
board chair is a seasoned board member with many years’ experience in Gem Prep schools. 
(Appendix D2: Board of Directors and Petitioning Group) 
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 Board Composition Profile & Terms of Service 

Board 

Member 

Name 

Education Law, 

Compliance 

Operations 

Real 

Estate 

Facilities 

Strategy Accounting 

Finance 

Business 

Management 

Politics, 

External 

Relations 

Years of 

Service 

Current 

Term 

Dennis 

Turner, 

Chair 

X X X X From 

03/2014 

6/30/27 

Barb 

Femreite, 

Vice 

Chair 

X  X X  X X   X X From 

10/2020 

6/30/26 

Mason 

Harper 

X X From 

04/2023 

06/30/26 

Bob Lee X   X X From 

08/2021 

6/30/27 

Duncan 

Robb 

X   X X X X From 

09/2018 

6/30/26 

Transition Plan 

A vital element in the plans for the Gem Prep school has been the governance of the GIS Board of 
Directors.  The GIS Board has been governing multiple Gem Prep Schools for many years, including 
Gem Prep: Nampa. Therefore, a transition plan from a founding board to a governing board is not 
necessary.  

Board Member Recruitment and Training 

Recruitment and nomination of potential new board members is the responsibility of the board’s 
Governance Committee. When recruiting, the committee leverages professional networks, as well 
as the connections of staff, teachers, parents, and community members.  It is critical that board 
members possess not only the skill sets Gem Prep needs, but also a demeanor of professionalism 
and civility. When no board members possess a necessary skills set, the committee identifies that 
skill as the recruitment priority for future board members. Further, if board members cannot be 
identified who possesses the necessary skills set, the Committee recommends board training in 
order to develop expertise in that skill within existing board members.  Board members must share 
a commitment to the mission of the school and be willing to volunteer their expertise to ensure the 
school’s success in fulfilling its mission.  
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GIS school board members are committed to continued development.  The board believes strongly 
in seeking out relevant board training opportunities to assist in making Gem Prep a high 
performing college preparatory school, which prepares students for college, career, and citizenship. 

Board members identify (typically annually) their greatest needs for professional learning.  Once 
needs are identified, the board develops a professional development plan which provides 
opportunities for board members to advance their expertise, and to strengthen and deepen the 
board as a whole. Typically, Board members also schedule an annual retreat where they receive 
additional training on subjects they identify as their greatest need for continued professional 
learning in their roles. The annual school budget includes funding for board training and 
development opportunities.  Board members also attend regular training such as the Idaho School 
Board Association’s annual convention.  

A New Board Members packet is provided to new board members.  This packet contains 
information to help them understand what is involved in being a board member.  Packets include, 
but are not limited to, the GIS Board Handbook, online training created by BLUUM, the school 
charter, roles and responsibilities, open meeting and record laws, state statute for charter schools, 
ethical standards, conflict of interest information, board policies, financial reports, and budgets.  
New members are also provided with educational materials relative to Gem Prep’s educational 
model, such as webinars, books, and conferences, prior to appointment, and during their service on 
the board.
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Section IV: Student Demand and Primary 
Attendance Area  

Primary Attendance Area 
The school is physically located within the Nampa School District. Gem Prep’s attendance area 
includes all of the Nampa School District as detailed in the map below.  A more detailed view can be 
found at the following link:  GPN Attendance Area Map.      

Student Demand 
Student Population Growth 
Gem Prep: Nampa currently serves 539 students in grades K-12 with a waitlist of 215.  Over the 
past 5 years, the school has seen a steady increase in enrollment as it expanded grade levels to 
serve grades K-12.   

Access for low-income students. While Gem Prep serves all students, the school provides 
additional choice of a personalized, college preparatory school for low-income students. Currently, 
64% of Gem Prep: Nampa’s student population is low income compared to 51% served in the 
Nampa School District.  Attracting a diverse student population and serving them well is central to 
Gem Prep’s mission. 

Student success. Currently, 25% of GPN’s Class of 2025 is on track to earn their associate’s 
degree by high school graduation. Even more impressive is that 38% of the Class of 2026 is on track 
to earn their associate’s degree by graduation. Across the network of Gem Prep schools, students 
have earned an average of 34 dual college credits per student. Further, the average Gem Prep 
graduate leaves high school with just shy of $22,000 in scholarship offers. Gem Prep: Nampa 
provides a cost-saving option while exposing students to college-level classes in high school. 

https://www.zipdatamaps.com/school-district/idaho/nampa-school-district-131
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Community Growth 

According to Compass Idaho, a community planning organization for southwest Idaho, Nampa has 
grown by more than 19,000 residents since 20203 - that’s a population increase of 17.05% in just 
four years4. While student enrollment within the Nampa School District has declined, much of the 
decline is attributed to charter school enrollment and other educational options. Despite district 
declines in enrollment, Gem Prep: Nampa has seen an increase in demand for enrollment. 

Student Population 
Gem Prep: Nampa mirrors the student demographic population of the school district. Focused 
recruitment strategies enable GP’s student demographic population to roughly reflect the school 
district’s percentage of non-white, English Language Learner, economically disadvantaged (low 
income), and special education.  Attracting a diverse student population and serving them well is 
central to Gem Prep’s mission.  

The table below shows the demographic makeup of Gem Prep: Nampa and the Nampa School 
District for the 2023-2024 school years.56 

Enrollment Capacity 
Gem Prep’s instructional model includes challenging each student at their comprehension level. 
One way Gem Prep does this is by placing students in the grade level of their comprehension, not 
necessarily in the grade level of their birth year.  While this practice keeps students academically 
challenged, changing a student’s grade level placement also creates challenges to keep within the 

3 Ada & Canyon continue growth – Boise, Meridian, & Nampa notch milestones 
4 World Population Review – Nampa Idaho 
5 Idaho State Department of Education School Report Card- NSD 
6 Idaho State Department of Education School Report Card - GPN 

https://boisedev.com/news/2024/04/18/report-meridian-nampa-see-greatest-population-boom/
https://worldpopulationreview.com/us-cities/idaho/nampa
https://idahoschools.org/districts/131
https://idahoschools.org/schools/1386
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grade level cap, which is the primary reason a schoolwide cap is necessary as opposed to a grade-
level cap. 

Gem Prep enrollment is capped at 676 students in grades K-12.   While the Board has a plan that 
targets 574 students, the Board requests a single K-12 enrollment capacity of approximately 676.  
This approach allows the Board to adjust grade-level student numbers, within the 676 student cap, 
in order to assure availability for all current students who wish to re-enroll, in order to place 
students in the grade level of their comprehension, and in response to market needs.  For the 
purpose of the lottery, no less than three months prior to GP’s application deadline, the Board of 
Directors will establish the annual school-wide enrollment capacity not to exceed 676 students and 
an annual enrollment capacity for each grade level. 

Community Partnerships and Local Support
Gem Prep values its partnerships in each community. Internally, Gem Prep has Parent Committees 
that serve as a vital link between home and school. Externally, Gem Prep hopes to foster positive 
community partnerships with the local school districts.  

Below are examples of existing or future aspirational partnerships that will be leveraged for GP. 
● Gem Prep Parent Committees: Each Gem Prep school typically has 4-5 Parent Committees (4

standing, plus 1 ad hoc) that drive the work of extracurriculars, fundraising, activities

planning, community partnerships, career mentorships, and family nights. These parent

committees tend to drive much of the local partnerships in the community based on the needs

of GP students and their families.

● Skyhawk Sports: Provides an after school elementary sports program for students.

● Local School Districts:  While GPN offers several extracurricular activities to its students, GPN

students may also participate in local school district opportunities as well. GPN has several

students utilizing these opportunities.

GPN expects to continue to develop partnerships with community-based organizations. Future 
organizations which may be the focus of partnerships include student support organizations, 
philanthropic supporters, and businesses whose interests align in supporting GPN students.  

Enrolling Underserved Families 

Gem Prep has developed a student recruitment plan that intentionally enrolls a diverse student 
population.  Branding was created by a professional designer, and messaging was created with the 
help of an experienced consultant to balance high expectations with robust support.  

Gem Prep uses a variety of recruitment tools including social media, mailers, door-to-door 
campaigns, public forums, local preschools, and community events and groups. Student recruitment 
materials (also available in Spanish) feature students who represent diverse backgrounds and a 
range of age levels.  These materials make it abundantly clear that Gem Prep serves all students.  
Door-to-door efforts and mailers encompass a variety of neighborhoods, including those most likely 
to yield enrollment from students from low-income backgrounds.  Social media parameters are 
narrowed to target these same neighborhoods and demographics.  During the summer, Gem Prep 
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staff attend events and activities intended to inform families from all backgrounds about school 
choice options.
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Section V: School Leadership and 
Management  

Leadership Team 

The Administrative services are provided by the school Administrators, with support from the 
Board of Directors.  Gem Prep: Nampa contracts with Gem Prep: Online, for professional services 
(See Appendix H6: Professional Services Agreement). GPO will provide a seasoned charter school 
leadership team with many years of experience who manage several Idaho charter schools 
including Gem Prep: Online (GPO), Gem Prep: Pocatello, Gem Prep: Meridian, Gem Prep: Meridian 
North, Gem Prep: Meridian South, Gem Prep: Twin Falls, Gem Prep: Idaho Falls, and Gem Prep: 
Rexburg.  The team is augmented by a governance board, which provides expertise in all of the 
functions and areas needed to run a successful school. 

The contract with GPO provides an Executive Director (CEO) who reports directly to the Board of 
Directors and is responsible for the overall success of the school.  The contract also provides for the 
service of positions such as a Chief Academic Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Operating 
Officer, who all report directly to the Executive Director (See Appendix H6: Professional Services 
Agreement).  The instructional leader of the school is the principal who reports to and is evaluated 
by a Principal Supervisor.  All other school-level certified staff are evaluated by the principal or 
assistant principal.  (See Appendix E1: School Organization Chart.) 

The school’s management plan provides the school support from an executive team with a 
demonstrated track record of preparing students for success in college and beyond.  The executive 
team is currently comprised of an Executive Director (CEO), CFO, CAO, and COO.  The executive 
team manages curriculum development, instructional oversight, obtaining facility and facility 
financing, fundraising, professional development, preparing budgets and financial reports, back 
office support, human resources, overseeing special education, and marketing.  This allows the 
principal to focus on the instructional leadership of the school.  The principal’s responsibilities 
include student academic success, building school community and culture, providing teacher 
mentoring and coaching, conducting staff evaluations, student discipline, and facilitating parent and 
community relations. 

The board reviews key indicators on the school’s data dashboard each month.  Key indicators 
include enrollment, academic growth and achievement, financial stability, stakeholder satisfaction, 
and teacher turnover.  Monthly reviews allow the board to proactively address concerns as they 
arise.  If concerns arise, administrators may provide context or additional information to address 
those concerns.  If the concern warrants additional action, the board may either send the concern to 
one of the committees or ask the administration to make a recommendation at the next meeting 
concerning a resolution.  In addition, the Executive Director is evaluated annually on the 
performance of the school, which is informed by indicators outlined in the data dashboard.  The 
Board of Directors will evaluate the Executive Director using an evaluation framework permissible 
by Idaho law.  The Board will complete the evaluation of the administrator once per year, as 
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required by Idaho Code.  The timeline of evaluation will follow Idaho Code and be written in policy 
adopted by the Board of Directors after the charter petition is approved. 

The Executive Director, CAO, College Access Director, and CFO are seasoned school leaders with 
experience managing charter schools. Operations are managed collaboratively by the COO and the 
school site operations manager. The CFO manages finances. The Executive Director, in collaboration 
with the school attorney, addresses legal matters. The Chief Growth Officer manages school startup, 
construction, and charter management. 

The chart below outlines the experience and areas of expertise of the leadership team. 
(See Appendix E2: Leadership Team Resumes.) 
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Jason Bransford, Executive Director 
X X X X X X X X X X X 

Laurie Wolf, CAO 
X X X X X X X X 

Bryan Fletcher, CFO 
X X X X X X 

Brenda Pina, COO 
X X X X 

Josh Femreite, Chief Growth Officer 
X X X X X X  X X X 

Tera Reeves, College Access Director 
X X X X X X X X 
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ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION 

Of 

-:'i- ·· ;�_, , :, �-,.A1 E,_:: .• ·• ., . · ·, i 1 .__., •.Ji 1l 
IDAHO DISTANCE EDUCATION ACADEMY, Inc. 

ST,4.TE OF 10'1'1Q articles of Incorporation ofIDAHO DISTANCE EDUCATION ACADEMY, Inc. a 
nonprofit corporation are hereby stated: 

ARTICLE I 
NAME 

The name of the corporation (hereinafter called the Corporation) is IDAHO DISTANCE 
EDUCATION ACADEMY, Inc. 

ARTICLE II 
DURATION 

The Corporation shall exist perpetually. 

ARTICLE II
PURPOSE AND POWERS OF THE CORPORATION 

The Corporation is a nonprofit benefit corporation and is not organized for the private 
gain of any person. 
It is organized under the Idaho Charter School Act for public purposes. The specific 
purpose of the corporation is to manage, operate, guide, direct and promote Idaho 
Distance Education Academy, and such other educational activities as the Board of 
Directors may define from time to time. 

The internal affairs of the Corporation shall be governed by the duly adopted code of By­
laws which shall be consistent with these articles of incorporation and the laws .of the 
state of Idaho. 

No part of the net earnings of the corporation shall be distributed to its Directors. The 
specific primary purposes for which it is formed are as follows: 
To operate a charter school in accordance with the charter school laws of the state of 
Idaho. 
To do and engage in any and all lawful activities that may be incidental or reasonably 
necessary to any of the forgoing purposes, and to have and exercise all other powers and 

:. authority now or hereafter conferred upon a non-for-profit organization. 

PROVIDED: that in all events and under all circumstances, and notwithstanding merger, 
consolidation, reorganization, termination, dissolution or winding up of this corporation, 
vohintary or by operation of the law, the following provisions apply: 

1. This corporation shall never be operated for the primary purpose of carry on a
trade or business for profit. 05,rs,�ll OF J�: a0 CX: 8812 CT: 66931 BH: 746985 

I-DEA Articles of Incorporation May2004 

1 @ 38.88 = 38.88 IHC NOHP I 2 

�,sc+i�� 
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BOARD OF DIRECTOR 

RESUMES 

Appendix D1: Board of Director Resumes



Dennis Turner 

COMMUNITY INVOVLEMENT / VOLUNTEER ACTIVITIES 

Board Member, Gem Prep network of schools 

Congressional Delegate for Idaho & Utah 
Educating congress about drinking water

EXPERIENCE 

City of Pocatello 
Water Department 
911 N 7trh Avenue 
Pocatello, ID 83201 
(208)234-6174

Southeast Idaho Subsection / American Water WorksAssociation 
(AWWA) Intermountain 
Subsection President (2 years) 
http://www.ims-awwa.org/ 

EDUCATION 

Michigan State 
University Idaho 
State University 
College of Western 
Idaho PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATES / LICENSES / AWARDS 

Class IV Water Distribution License 
Class I Water Treatment Certificate 
Boy Scouts of America Bridge Builders’ Award 

1980 - 2015 

2014 to Present 

1986-2007 

2006 

1984

RESUME: Board Chair



BARBARA A. FEMREITE 

QUALIFICATIONS &  
ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

Governmental Fund Accounting - 31 years’ experience 
Idaho School Finance - 15 years’ experience 
Proven successful financial management - successfully managed finances for Idaho 
Distance Education Academy (first Gem Prep school) through the economic 

downturn without reducing the fund balance or impacting student achievement.     
Efficient Business Operations Management 

� Initiated the consolidation of the Business Department and Central Services
Department saving over $50,000/yr

� Developed and implemented transition plan from a paper student and
financial records system to an electronic system

� Developed an online interface system for student registration and
reimbursement

� Initiated and developed a statewide school electronic inventory system

Grant administration – Administered multiple grants totaling over six million dollars. 

PROFESSIONAL  
EXPERIENCE 

Gem Prep network of schools 

� Chief Finance Officer 2008-Present

� Finance Specialist 2004-2008

City of Deary, Idaho 

� City Clerk/Treasurer 1994-2004

University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho 

� Department of Finance 1992-1994

Key Bank of Idaho, Troy and Moscow, Idaho 1983-1992 

� Financial Services

� Investments

RESUME: Board Vice Chair



Mason Harper
masonharper@gemprep.org 

Professional Experience 
April 2002- PRESENT 

Nu Vu Glass, Inc, Twin Falls - Chief Executive Officer 

● Oversee all aspects of business, accounting, finance.
● Forecast, develop and manage budget.
● 3rd Generation Family Owned Business.
● Oversaw business expansion into new regions.

Education 

Utah State University - Business Administration and Management, 1998-2002 

Burley High School 

Awards, Recognitions and Board/Commissions 

Board Member- Blue Lakes Golf Club 

RESUME: Board Member
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Robert England Lee 

Employment Experience 

Gem Prep Charter School   Pocatello, Idaho 
Operations Manager/Consultant    June 2013-2018 

• Implemented and carried out safety and security strategies for a school that had 8 full-time staff members and 120
students, assuring full compliance with state and federal regulations, conducting monthly safety drills for fires
and armed intruders, performing monthly inspections of fire extinguishing equipment and assuring servicing of
that equipment and assuring preparation for annual state safety inspection.

• Director of physical fitness programs.

• Tutored students in Math and English when they fell short of goals in those subject areas.

• Prepared lunches for those qualifying for free and reduced cost lunches.

• Monitored the playground during recess.
• Coordinated with parents to create an end-of-year school “Olympics” program.

Seminaries and Institutes of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints 

Institute Director       Pocatello, Idaho 
 July 2008-June 2013 

• Supervised, evaluated and provided training for four faculty members, establishing class schedules and faculty
assignments for classes involving over 500 students each semester, teaching four bi-weekly sections of classes
related to the Standard Works and History of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, developing
strategies for recruitment of students, coordinating these efforts with local ecclesiastical leaders and assuring
compliance with state and federal regulations and church policy in all aspects of the program, including
enrollment, finances and physical facilities.

Institute Faculty Member    Salt Lake City, Utah 
   July 2006-July 2008 

• Taught twelve bi-weekly sections of classes related to the Standard Works of The Church of Jesus Christ of
Latter-day Saints and the history of the church to 200+ students each semester. 

• Developed curriculum materials specifically designed for students who had recently returned from full-time
missionary service, organizing and supervising a systematic program for recruitment of the 400+ full-time
missionaries returning to the Salt Lake Valley each month.

Regional Coordinator  Raleigh, North Carolina 
   July 1992-July 2003* 

• Supervised and trained 70+ volunteer seminary teachers and 8 volunteer institute teachers over a geographic area
ranging from Greensboro to Wilmington, North Carolina, visiting individual classes at least once each semester,
developing strategies for recruitment of students, working with volunteer teachers and local ecclesiastical
leaders, providing student and program status reports to church headquarters, and performing all administrative
duties associated with the assignment, including enrollment, finances and physical facilities.

Curriculum Writer  Salt Lake City, Utah 
   July 1987-July 1992 

• Wrote and edited curriculum materials for use world-wide by teachers and students participating in seminary
and institute classes.

RESUME: Board Member
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Seminary Principal       Pocatello, Idaho 
 July 1984-July 1987 

• Supervised, evaluated and provided training for three faculty members, teaching four bi-weekly sections of
classes related to the Standard Works and history of The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, working
with local ecclesiastical leaders to promote student participation in the program and providing reports on the
progress of students and the status of the program to church headquarters, including matters related to finances
and physical facilities.

Seminary Principal  Oakley/Burley, Idaho 
      July 1978-July 1984 

• Taught six sections of daily classes related to the Standard Works and history of The Church of Jesus Christ of
Latter-day Saints, performing all administrative duties associated with the assignment, including enrollment,
finances and physical facilities.

The Idaho Army National Guard       Twin Falls/Pocatello, Idaho 
    January 1983-August 1986 

• Regimental Chaplain for the 116th Armored Cavalry Regiment (1983-1986) and Unit Chaplain for the 148th Field
Artillery Unit (1979-1983), providing counsel to commanders and troops and assuring that all personnel had
access to religious services during monthly and annual training, supervising the three other chaplains assigned to
the Regiment. Discontinued military service in 1986 with the rank of Captain.

The Army of the United States of America  XVIII Airborne Corps & Ft. Bragg, North Carolina 
 March 1975-July 1978 

• Chief of the Separation Transfer Point (1977-1978), supervised and trained 42 active-duty Army and Department
of the Army civilians, assuring that persons leaving active-duty military service did so in compliance with Army
regulations.

• Chief of Military Occupational Specialty (MOS) Testing (1976-1977), supervised and trained two Army personnel
administering the evaluations of military personnel in their specific areas of specialization, reporting the
evaluations to commanders, and securing testing materials to avoid fraudulent results.

• Chief of Enlisted and Officer personnel records (1975-1976) supervised and trained 31 Army personnel who
maintained the records of 2,500+ soldiers in the 5th and 7th Special Forces and the Corps Support Command,
assuring that the records were maintained in compliance with Army regulations.

Education 

• IDAHO STATE UNIVERSITY (1967-1968, 1970-1974) Pocatello, Idaho
° Bachelor of Arts, French Education

• ADJUTANT GENERAL CORPS BASIC OFFICER COURSE (1975)
° Ft. Benjamin Harrison, Indiana

• EAST CAR0LINA UNIVERSITY (1977-1979)
° Master of Arts, Counselor Education

• CHAPLAIN CORPS OFFICER BASIC COURSE (1980)
°Ft. Monmouth, New Jersey

• BRIGHAM YOUNG UNIVERSITY (1981-1985) Provo, Utah
° Doctor of Education, Secondary Curriculum and Instruction

*2003-2006 – Mission President, The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, California San Fernando Mission.



Duncan Robb 

Summary of Qualifications 

▪ Former educator, state education agency executive team member, and education consultant.

▪ Highly experienced presenting and facilitating in high-stakes environments with legislators, senior
education leaders, and education organization leaders.

▪ State-level policy experience across a broad cross-section of content areas.
▪ Expert strategic planning and improvement advisor in education agencies, school districts, and nonprofits.

Professional Experience 

Education Consultant Aug. 2018 – present  
Private Practice 

▪ Working with national education organizations to build state education agency capacity, learn
from successes across states, and ensure state leaders are equipped to implement their
strategies in order to hit the goals they have set for students.

Chief Policy Advisor Jun. 2016 – Aug. 2018 
Idaho State Department of Education 
▪ Implemented the legislative and policy agenda of the Idaho State Superintendent of Public Instruction.
▪ Maintained critical relationships with state policymakers, including state legislators, Idaho’s governor and

education policy advisor, and members of the Idaho state board of education.
▪ Applied On-the-ground knowledge content of state-level policy landscapes including public school funding,

workforce development, school improvement, assessment, and educator preparation and certification.
▪ Engaged in daily engagement with state lawmakers and coalition-building to advance key policy decisions.
▪ Regularly interfaced with national education organizations to build and maintain knowledge of the national

education policy landscape.

Engagement Manager May 2013 – May 2016 
U.S. Education Delivery Institute, Washington, DC 
▪ Led and contributed to partnerships with K-12 state agencies, K-12 districts, nonprofit organizations, and

higher education systems and campuses to improve student achievement through effective policy
implementation and capacity building at all levels using the Delivery Approach.

▪ Provided strategic planning, progress monitoring and content expertise to partners and clients.
▪ Designed and led high quality professional learning and collaborative workshops both among agency

leaders and staff and across agencies.

Program Evaluator Nov. 2012 – Jun. 2013 
Baltimore Education Research Consortium, Baltimore, MD 
▪ Collaborated with a small team, the Consortium, and Baltimore City Public Schools to design, implement,

and complete a program evaluation of Baltimore City Public Schools’ Great Kids Farm project.

Sixth Grade Math Teacher May 2009 – Jun. 2011 
Holland Middle School, Houston Independent School District, Houston, TX 
▪ Highest performing of three sixth grade math teachers in 2010 and 2011.
▪ School Officer’s Leadership Academy

Education 

▪ Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University, Masters in Public Policy May 2013 
▪ Eugene, OR: University of Oregon, Bachelor of Arts in Political Science Jun. 2009 

RESUME: Board Member
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GEM INNOVATION SCHOOLS OF IDAHO BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho Board of Directors is comprised of a talented and
seasoned group of professionals and civic leaders. The board has strong expertise in 
diverse fields—education, law, publicity / Marketing, Real Estate, Strategy, Accounting/ 
Finance, Business / Management, Politics / External Relationships—and provides strong 
governance and oversight.  

• Dennis Turner, Chair
• Barb Femreite, Vice Chair
• Mason Harper
• Robert Lee
• Duncan Robb

GEM PREP: NAMPA PETITIONING GROUP       

Gem Prep: Nampa Petitioning Group Participation

(Other than Board Participation) 

The following persons were significantly involved in the petition. Each individual’s 
participation during and following the petition approval process is listed below: 

Jason Bransford, Chief Executive Officer 

DURING PETITION PROCESS: Planning, general oversight, board liaison, facilities 

planning, education model planning, finances, etc. 

AFTER PETITION APPROVAL: General oversight, hiring, facilities, education model, 

finances, compliance with performance certificate, etc. 

Laurie Wolfe, Chief Academic Officer 

DURING PETITION PROCESS: Planning, general oversight, education model 

planning, curriculum planning, etc. 

AFTER PETITION APPROVAL: Hiring, school leader oversight, education model 

oversight, compliance with performance certificate, etc. 

Appendix D2: Board of Directors and Petitioning Group



Bryan Fletcher, Chief Financial Officer

DURING PETITION PROCESS: Planning, financial oversight. 

AFTER PETITION APPROVAL: Compliance with performance certificate /financial, 

financial oversight, etc.

Josh Femreite, Chief Growth Officer

DURING PETITION PROCESS: Planning, facilities and operations. 

AFTER PETITION APPROVAL: Facility construction oversight, transportation and 

food services support.

  Brenda Piña, Chief Operating Officer

DURING PETITION PROCESS: Planning, General oversight, operations planning: 
nutrition and transportation.

AFTER PETITION APPROVAL:  Hiring, operations manager oversight, 
transportation and food services setup.
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GEM INNOVATION SCHOOLS OF IDAHO 

Jason Bransford 
208.339.3735      
jasonbransford@geminnovation.org 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

Gem Innovation Schools, Chief Executive Officer 2015 – Present 
Launched Idaho’s first charter management organization (CMO). Opened six K-12 charter schools 
in key Idaho locales (with a 7th approved for Fall of 2026 & 8th approved for Fall 2027). Secured 
the fiscal support for launch and expansion of each school. Leader of a team that developed and 
executed a plan for strong student and adult culture, educational excellence, and operational 
efficiency.   

Idaho Distance Education Academy, Director 2009 – Present 
Worked with administrative team to reversed a $700,000 deficit, streamlined operations in every 
school department, created a robust Title 1 program and increased student achievement in every 
sub-population. Guided I-DEA to a five-star rating, which included recognition that the school had 
the highest SAT scores in the state. Awarded the 2013 Idaho Education Network Innovator of the 
Year Award. 

Dickinson School District & Galveston School District, Teacher 2004 - 2007 
Dickinson District Committee Chair, District Assessment 2006 – 2007, Dickinson Mentor Teacher 
2006-2007, Dickinson Teacher 2005-2007. Galveston District teacher 2004-2005. 

RELATED EXPERIENCE 

● Founder of Idaho’s first Charter Management Organization- Gem Innovation Schools
● Founder of 6 Idaho charter schools—

-Gem Prep: Pocatello 2014
-Gem Prep: Nampa 2016
-Gem Prep: Meridian 2018
-Gem Prep: Meridian North 2021
-Gem Prep: Meridian South 2022
-Gem Prep: Twin Falls 2023

● Grant Recipient—J.A. Kathryn Albertson Foundation, NewSchools Venture Fund, Louis Calder
Foundation, Charter Schools Growth Fund, Idaho Future Fund, The Yass Prize, and The
Learning Innovation Fund/Walton Foundation.

● Recipient—Idaho Education Network “Innovator of the Year Award 2013”
● Legislative Subcommittee—

-Teacher Pipeline 2017
-Idaho Education Network Strategic Planning 2013
-Idaho State Legislature Excellence & Accountability Measures 2013

● Vice President—Idaho Charter School Network. Board Member July 2011 – July 2014.
● Author - The Future is Bright: How Gem Prep is reimagining education and building

tomorrow's leaders. Covenant Books. 2023.

EDUCATION 

University of Utah—EdD: Education Leadership, 2019 
Idaho State University—EdS: Educational Administration, 2009 
University of Houston—MS: Educational Management, 2006 
Brigham Young University-Idaho—BS: Social Studies Education, 2003 

Appendix E2: Leadership Team Resumes 



EDUCATION 
2003-2005 University of Colorado, Colorado Springs  

Masters of Business Administration - Finance 
Program accredited by Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB) 

1998-2001 University of Phoenix, 
Bachelors of Science in Business Administration  

1991-1995 Riverside Community College, Riverside, CA. 
General Education 

1983-1985 Chaffey College, Alta Loma, CA. 
General Education  

EMPLOYMENT 

2/2021-present Gem Innovation Schools 
Meridian, ID. and online 
CFO 
Oversee all aspects of business, accounting, finance and HR related activities for the charter 
network. 
Forecast, develop and manage network budgets. 
Conduct strategic and tactical planning and execution along with Executive Management 
Team. 
Manage liquidity/cash flow in accordance with State law and network’s investment policy. 
Conduct activities associated with debt management. 
Work with independent auditor to issue the Annual Financial Audit/Report, and issue 
financial statements and reports during course of fiscal year. 

9/2016-2/2021 Blaine County School District 
Hailey, ID. 
CFO/ Director of Finance 
Oversee all aspects of business, accounting, and finance related activities for the District. 
Forecast, develop and manage District budget. 
Conduct strategic and tactical planning and execution along with District Executive 
Management Team. 
Manage liquidity/cash flow in accordance with State law and District investment policy. 
Conduct activities associated with issuing bonds and maintain disclosure statements. 
Work with independent auditor to issue District’s Annual Financial Audit/Report, and issue 
financial statements and reports during course of fiscal year. 

2015-9/2016 Sorrento Lactalis 
Nampa, ID. 
Controller 
Provided financial and accounting oversight for two of the production facilities. 
Provided financial analysis of performance. 
Develop budget.  

2008-8/2014 Kuna School District 
Kuna, ID. 
CFO/ Business Manager 
Oversee all aspects of business, accounting, and finance related activities for the District. 
Forecast, develop and manage District budget. 
Conduct strategic and tactical planning and execution along with District Executive 

Bryan T. Fletcher 



Management Team. 
Manage liquidity/cash flow in accordance with State law and District investment policy. 
Conduct activities associated with issuing bonds and maintain disclosure statements. 
Work with independent auditor to issue District’s Annual Financial Audit/Report, and issue 
financial statements and reports during course of fiscal year. 
Oversee Human Resources department including the selection and implementation of benefits 
and insurance offerings for District employees. 
Manage all financial relationships with Commercial Banks, Investment Banker, Bond 
Council, Investment Pool, Insurance Firms, Benefit providers, and PERSI. 
Present monthly to Board of Trustees on business and financial matters. 

2008-2015 University of Phoenix 
Meridian, ID. 
Instructor 
Instruct/Facilitate classes in the disciplines of Accounting, Finance, and Operation. 

2003-2008 Design Space Modular Buildings, Inc. 
Boise, ID. 
Facility Manager 
Manage all aspects of local facility functions, both operations/administration and sales. 
Manage P&L and other financial data. 
Develop annual facility budget/operation plan and maintain adherence. 
Supervise branch staff, and oversee all project management aspects of facility. 

1998-2003 G.E. Capital Modular Space, 
Boise, ID. 
Branch Manager 
Manage all aspects of local facility functions, both operations/administration and sales. 
Conduct financial analysis of proposed projects to determine viability. 
Manage P&L and other financial data. 
Develop annual facility budget/operation plan and maintain adherence. 
Supervise branch staff, and oversee all project management aspects of facility. 

1996-1998 G.E. Capital Modular Space, 
Boise, ID. 
Branch Operations Manager 
Administer all aspects of branch operations including, but not limited too,  
accounts payables, accounts receivables, credit review and approval, fleet oversight, project 
management, and full P&L responsibility. 

1996-1996 G.E. Capital Modular Space, 
Rialto, CA. 
Interim Branch Manager 
Administer all aspects of branch operations for the local three facilities across Southern 
California including, but not limited too, accounts payables, accounts receivables, credit 
review and approval, fleet management, and full P&L responsibility.   

1994-1996 G.E. Capital Modular Space, 
Rialto, CA. 
Fleet Manager 
Administer the fleet for the local three facilities across Southern California.  Oversee and 
manage all contractors and subcontractors engaged in the company’s fleet repair, 
maintenance, delivery, and installation.  Provide project management for all custom and in-
fleet installations. 



Laurie 
Wolfe 

Experience 
G e m  P r e p  n e t w o r k  o f  s c h o o l s  — 7 /  2 0 0 6  -  p r e s e n t
Chief Academic Officer

Hired to turn around test scores. Led the initiate to improve student academic 

achievement. Moved state testing scores from the bottom quartile to the top  

quartile.  Implemented standards based curriculum, student led portfolio 

conferences, K-8 learning management system, and professional development 

focused on improving student academic achievement.

Boise School  Distr ic t  —8/1990  6 /2006
Trail Wind Elementary- Reading Specialist, and Gifted and Talented 
Specialist
A founding teacher at Trail Wind Elementary.  Developed and implemented a pilot 

program called the Accelerated Learning. The purpose of the program was to 

provided services (special education, reading specialist, and gifted and talented) to 

help all students accelerate their learning without the stigma usually associated 

with special services. 

Les Bois Junior High School  7 t h and 8 t h grade Reading Teacher

A founding teacher at Les Bois Junior High.  Worked with colleagues and 

administrators to establish school culture and norms. 

Hawthorne Elementary  3 r d  and 6 t h grade classroom teacher

Low income elementary school.  Implemented Saturday School for students who 

were not successfully completing school work and homework.  Parents were 

required to attend and they were taught strategies for working with their children. .

Long Beach Unified School District 9/1988  5/1990
Garfield Elementary  1s t  and 2nd  grade classroom teacher

Diverse inner city school with high percentage of English Language Learners.  

Designed and implemented a successful home writing program with 1st and 2nd 

grade students and their parents.  

Education 
Boise State University 

Ed. D. Curriculum and Instruction

12/2005 

Boise State University 

MA Literacy 5/1992 

Boise State University 

BA Elementary Ed 5/1998 

Certificates and 

Endorsements 

Administrator K-12 

Gifted and Talented K-12 

Literacy K-12 

Standard Elementary K-8

Profile  Laurie Wolfe

Experienced educator with a proven track record of raising student academic 

achievement.  I enjoy creating opportunities for high quality, personalized, 

learning experiences for students and teachers.  I love a challenge!   



Brenda Piña 
EDUCATION  
Bachelor of Science in Human Resource Management and Operations Management May 2016 
University of Idaho, Moscow, ID
Cumulative GPA: 3.04 

WORK EXPERIENCE 
Gem Innovation Schools, Meridian, ID 
Chief Operating Officer        ​July 2019 – 

Present 
▪ Collaborate with the C-Team in setting and driving organizational vision, operational strategy, and hiring needs.
▪ Oversee daily operations and technology of all schools and the work of individual School Operations managers and                

technology department.
▪ Design and implement policies and procedures that align with the organizations vision and mission.
▪ Maintain and build trusted relationships with key partners and stakeholders.

Gem Prep: Nampa, Nampa, ID
School Operations Manager  ​September 2016 – 

July 2019 
▪ Oversee and manage the national school lunch program.
▪ Collaborated effectively with the principal to ensure smooth workflow and efficient coverage by communicating shift              

duties to all partner teachers.
▪ Responsible for supply, facility, and field trip requisitions and budgets.
▪ Launched two new programs to improve the flow of processes; School Mint and Boonli.
▪ Coordinate school transportation and procedures with brown bus.

4-H Youth Development, University of Idaho Extension, Caldwell, ID
Public Relations Intern  ​May 2016 – 

August 2016 
▪ Reach out and connect with local newspapers to negotiate the publication of articles that feature hosted events.
▪ Photograph staff and interns teaching youth about healthy living and share them on social media.
▪ Control social media, such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter by keeping viewers engaged.

Native American Student Center, Moscow, ID
HOIST Mentor  ​May 2015 – 

July 2015 
▪ Guided and enforced rules and regulations that were to be maintained in the living residence for the 12 students I was                    

overseeing by developing rapport and building a relationship with them.
▪ Directed students to relevant information about academic and personal support services available at the university.
▪ Planned and led activities to develop students’ physical, emotional and social growth.

LEADERSHIP EXPERIENCE
Association of Latino Professionals for America (ALPFA), Moscow, ID
Member ​  August 2015 – 

May 2016 
▪ Participated in community service, for example combing and walking blind horses.
▪ Planned and coordinated fundraisers such as holiday raffle baskets and our annual red carpet dance.
▪ Recruited potential members at our UIdaho bound events by tabling and talking to incoming freshman about our                

organization.
▪ Award: 2016 ALPFA Convention Scholarship (Dallas, TX).

Multicultural Greek Council, Moscow, ID
Vice President of Communications​  August 2015 – 

May 2016 
▪ Maintained complete and up-to-date files of minutes, attendance, and membership.
▪ Distributed minutes to the executive board and presidents of all the multicultural Greeks at the university.
▪ Planned and coordinated logistics and materials for board meetings while also maintaining order during the meetings.
▪ Publicized our organization and events on social media to maintain positive public relations with community              

members.
Lambda Theta Alpha, Moscow, ID
Public Relations Chair​                                                                                                                           August 2015 –

May 2016 
▪ Advertised all events our organization planned and hosted over 75 people at fundraisers and engaged with users.
▪ Represented the organization’s image to the public and other external sources.

Chapter Orientation Advisor  ​August 2014 – 
May 2015 



▪ Oversaw and attended all potential interest meetings
▪ Evaluated each of the 6 new members by interviewing and guiding them into the sorority.

Treasurer  ​August 2013 – 
May 2014 

▪ Developed accurate records of all of our chapter’s financial transactions through monthly financial summary reports              
and bank reconciliation reports.

▪ Managed, tracked, and monitored all deposits and withdrawals of our sorority using excel worksheets.
▪ Budgeted active and proposed ideas by accurately determining pricing, margins, and risk factors for our chapter.

SKILLS 
▪ Microsoft Office Programs: Excel, Word, PowerPoint, and Microsoft Project
▪ Power School
▪ Boonli
▪ Managing school lotteries and registration via School Mint
▪ Fluent in Spanish and English



JOSH FEMREITE 

EDUCATION 
BACHELOR OF SCIENCE / 2003 / UNIVERSITY OF IDAHO 
Business with emphasis on Information Systems 

QUALIFICATIONS 
LEADERSHIP 
Designed, planned and implemented business strategies, plans and procedures to meet 
departmental and organizational goals. Managed development of custom student information 
system. Implemented school-wide web video conferencing system leading to greater 
communications between teachers and students. Led project to implement learning 
management system and bring Gem Prep: Online (formerly Idaho Distance Education Academy) 
courses online. Set comprehensive goals for school growth and student success. Oversaw daily 
operations and the work of operations teams and technology department. Developed and 
maintained relationships with partners and vendors. 

PROJECT MANAGEMENT 
Set comprehensive goals for school growth and student success. Oversaw daily operations and 
the work of operations teams and technology departments for four schools and four regional 
resource centers across the state. Developed and maintained relationships with partners and 
vendors. Managed facility acquisition and construction of three Gem Prep school campuses. 

EXPERIENCE 
CHIEF GROWTH OFFICER / GEM INNOVATION SCHOOLS / 2019 – PRESENT
Project manager for opening new Gem Prep schools; acquisition and expansion. 

CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER / GEM INNOVATION SCHOOLS / 2015 – 2019 
Project manager for new facility acquisition and expansion. Oversaw facility operations for 
network of four schools. 

DIRECTOR OF TECHNOLOGY / IDAHO DISTANCE EDUCATION ACADEMY / 2007 -2015 
Oversaw the management, implementation, and purchase of all technology for the school and 
it’s four resource centers across the state. 

SYSTEMS ENGINEER / IDAHO DISTANCE EDUCATION ACADEMY / 2006 – 2007 
Planned and managed school-wide network and systems. 

SUPPORT TECHNICIAN / IDAHO DISTANCE EDUCATION ACADEMY / 2004 – 2006 
Provided support and training for teachers, students and parents. 



Education Washington State University – Cum Laude  1993 
Bachelor of Arts Elementary Education 
Early Childhood Education Endorsement 
University of Idaho – 4.0 GPA   2004 
Master’s Degree Educational Leadership 
University of Idaho – 4.0 GPA     2011 

Administrative Experience 

Whitepine School District  2003-2010 
Elementary Principal; Federal Programs Director; Preschool Director; 
21st CCLC Director; Homeless Coordinator; G/T Coordinator 

District Superintendent; Elementary Principal; Federal Programs Director   2010-2015 

District Superintendent   2016-2017 

Gem Innovation Schools 

 Idaho Distance Education Academy Principal; Federal   Programs Director        2015-2019 

College Access Director; Federal Programs Director   2019-Present 

Teaching Experience 

Whitepine School District 
Long Term Substitute- Kindergarten & 4th Grade   1995-1996 
Special Education Paraprofessional   1996-1997 
Kindergarten Teacher    1997-2000 
First Grade Teacher   2000-2003 

Certifications 
Charlotte Danielson Framework for Teaching Proficiency  
Technology Competency Certificate 
Idaho Comprehensive Literacy Certificate 
MTI Certificate 

Leadership Roles 
Advanced Opportunities for Junior/Senior High Students 
Idaho Core Standards Implementation K-12 
Leadership Team Chair 
Crisis Team Leader 
Region II Superintendent Group Secretary 
Development Team fro Performance Standards for Mathematics 
Mentor Teacher Bovill Elementary 
Student Teacher Supervisor 
Comprehensive Reform Team Member 

Tera Reeves 



Appendix E3: Characteristics of a Gem Prep School Leader 

CHARACTERISTICS OF IDEAL SCHOOL LEADER 

Above all else, a Gem Prep (GP) principal will be the instructional leader of the school. The 
principal will ensure that at least sixty percent of Gem Prep students will graduate high 
school with an associate’s degree and the remainder will graduate with at least 18 college 
credits. The principal will develop master teachers who change the lives of students and 
families. The principal will set, and work relentlessly toward, academic goals for the school 
that will prepare students for college and beyond. The principal is an exceptional school 

leader with a proven record of success and a commitment to educational excellence. 

Specific Skills: 

Ability to Articulate a Vision and Drive Results 

• Drive the success of all students by creating systems of support and accountability
for students and staff

• Have a clear vision for instructional excellence and the skill set to help all
teachers and staff achieve that vision.

• Possess an understanding and passion for Gem Prep’s beliefs, mission,
vision, values, and operating norms and a commitment to working
relentlessly in their pursuit

• Have a proven record of past achievement: achieving ambitious,
measurable results in academics and leadership

• Strong critical thinking skills: making accurate connections between cause

and effect and generating relevant solutions to problems

• Possess the ability to influence and motivate others

• Demonstrate organizational ability: planning well, meeting deadlines, and working
efficiently

• Show experience using data to lead others to improve student outcomes

• Possess a continuous learning/growth mindset: see obstacles as opportunity and
persevere through setbacks, leading others to do the same, increasingly
elevating and improving school- wide outcomes

• Set high expectations and goals, achieve results, demonstrate tenacity and
initiative despite tremendous obstacles or challenging situations

Leadership Qualities 

• Demonstrate collaborative leadership

• Develop positive relationships with parents, teachers, students and community.

• Work in partnership with other school leaders in refining and shaping school culture,
recruiting and developing teacher talent and elevating our impact on students’
college readiness

• Demonstrate a commitment to the philosophy that every minute of every day is
learning time.

• Demonstrate integrity and ability to impact and influence multiple types of
stakeholders rooted in the priorities of what is best for students



Working at Gem Prep 

Gem Prep focuses on hiring and developing great leaders with high expectations and 
provides robust support to meet those expectations. Gem Prep expects the following from 
school leaders: 

• Results. Gem Prep works relentlessly to create efficient, measurable, and

sustainable results. We strive for excellence and pursue our mission tenaciously.
Ideally, you thrive working in a fluid environment where flexibility and tenacity are
required.

• Innovation. We embrace new approaches and ideas that have a powerful impact
on learning and teaching, achieving success for every student. We believe that
today’s students need schools that dramatically rethink the traditional learning
and teaching process for the success of every student. The status quo is not
acceptable.

• Integrity. We are truthful, fair, and trustworthy in all aspects of our work. We

expect the same of you.

• Humility. If you are humble and teachable, this will be a powerful learning
experience for you. Your humility will be key to building trusted and authentic
relationships as well as the key to your professional growth. We also understand
that you bring valuable experiences and knowledge that will lift our team.

• Teamwork. We value each of our team members as individuals but believe that
we achieve the greatest results by working together.

Qualifications 
• MA., EdD., or PhD. in School Administration, or related field

• Valid Idaho School Administrator Certificate

• Databased evidence of helping students achieve academic success

• Evidence of prior academic achievements, leadership experience, and
organizational skills indicating very high potential to perform at this level



GEM PREP: 

NAMPA, LLC 
Deary, Idaho

Audited Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended  

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Appendix H1:  2023-2024 Audit Report  



 

 

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC 
Deary, Idaho 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 PAGE 
  
Independent Auditor’s Report .................................................................................................... 1-3 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
And on Compliance And Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial 
Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ......................... 4-5 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 Statements of Financial Position .............................................................................................. 6 
 
 Statements of Activities ......................................................................................................... 7-8 
 
 Statements of Cash Flows ......................................................................................................... 9 
 
 Statements of Functional Expense .................................................................................... 10-11 
 
 Notes to the Financial Statements .................................................................................... 12-20 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 Schedule I – Statement of Net Position .................................................................................. 21 
 
 Schedule II – Statement of Activities. ..................................................................................... 22 
 
 Schedule III – Balance Sheet ................................................................................................... 23 
 
 Schedule IV – Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund  
 Balances to Net Position of Governmental Activities ............................................................. 24 
 
 Schedule V – Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes In 
 Fund Balances. ........................................................................................................................ 25 
 
 Schedule VI – Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
 and Changes In Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 
 Statement of Activities............................................................................................................ 26 
 



 

 

PAGE 
General Fund 

 
Schedule VII – Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes In 
Fund Balance – Budget and Actual ................................................................................... 27 

 
Schedule VIII – Schedule of Expenditures by Function – Budget and Actual .............. 28-30 

 
Nonmajor Funds 

 
Schedule IX – Combining Balance Sheet ...................................................................... 31-33 

 
 Schedule X – Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures  
 and Changes In Fund Balances ..................................................................................... 34-36 

 
Schedule XI – Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures - 
Budget and Actual ............................................................................................................. 37 
 

 
 



 

1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC 
Deary, Idaho 83823 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC (a nonprofit 
organization), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2024 and 
2023, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the changes in its net 
assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent 
of Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Gem Prep: 
Nampa, LLC’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the 
financial statements are available to be issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user 
based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s internal control. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 
 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 

aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain 
internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole. The accompanying Schedules I through XI is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, Schedules I 
through XI are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw your attention to Note 2 which requires Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC to submit to the Idaho 
State Department of Education financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America for governmental entities.  Schedules I 
through XI have been presented for this purpose.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to 
this matter. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
October 15, 2024 on our consideration of Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is 
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report 
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 

Hayden Ross, PLLC 
 
Moscow, Idaho 
October 15, 2024 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON 

AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Board of Directors 
Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC 
Deary, Idaho 83823 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of the Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC (a nonprofit organization), which comprise the 
statements of financial position as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related statements of 
activities, cash flows and functional expenses for the years then ended, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 15, 2024.   
 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Gem Prep: 
Nampa, LLC’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for expressing our opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, 
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control  
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that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during 
our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  However, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with 
which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing 
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances 
of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the organization’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the organization’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 

Hayden Ross, PLLC 
 
Moscow, Idaho 
October 15, 2024



 

 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



2024 2023

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash 752,083           864,326           
Investments 2,460,261        2,052,948        
Other receivables:

Federal 411,737           97,161             
State 295,913           60,100             
Local 31,053             8,753                

Less: restricted assets (651,859)          (579,041)          
Total current assets 3,299,188        2,504,247        

Property and equipment:
Land 130,858           130,858           
Buildings 9,571,424        9,033,394        
Construction in progress 24,027             84,029             
Technology and office equipment 78,771             55,782             
Less accumulated depreciation (622,910)          (367,231)          

Net property and equipment 9,182,170        8,936,832        

Other assets:
Restricted assets 651,859           579,041           

Total assets 13,133,217$   12,020,120$   

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 128,174           34,438             
Accrued payroll and benefits 188,632           142,665           
Accrued interest 56,585             57,226             
Current portion of bonds payable 170,000           165,000           

Total current liabilities 543,391           399,329           

Noncurrent liabilities:
Noncurrent portion of bonds payable 9,665,000        9,835,000        
Less: unamortized discount on bonds payable (190,816)          (196,642)          
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (362,379)          (373,444)          

Total noncurrent liabilities 9,111,805        9,264,914        

Total liabilities 9,655,196        9,664,243        

Net assets:
With donor restrictions 651,859           579,041           

 Without donor restrictions:
Invested in property and equipment, net of related debt (90,322)            (484,227)          
Unspecified 2,916,484        2,261,063        

Total net assets 3,478,021        2,355,877        

Total liabilities and net assets 13,133,217$   12,020,120$   

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
June 30, 2024 and 2023

_______________________________________
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

_______________________________________________________________________
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Without With
Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUE, GRANTS AND OTHER SUPPORT
Federal support 18,720              673,226            691,946            
State support 4,853,778        113,406            4,967,184        
Local support 153,489            55,626              209,115            
Interest earnings 142,840            37,619              180,459            

Total revenue, grants and other support 5,168,827        879,877            6,048,704        

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS
Restrictions satisfied by payments 807,059            (807,059)          -                         

Total net assets released from restrictions 807,059            (807,059)          -                         

EXPENSE
Program (instructional) 2,483,622        -                         2,483,622        
Administrative (support) 1,665,611        -                         1,665,611        
Non-instruction 158,135            -                         158,135            
Other 363,513            -                         363,513            
Depreciation 255,679            -                         255,679            

Total expense 4,926,560        -                         4,926,560        

Change in net assets 1,049,326        72,818              1,122,144        

Net assets - beginning of year 1,776,836        579,041            2,355,877        

Net assets - end of year 2,826,162$      651,859$         3,478,021$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

_______________________________________
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

_______________________________________________________________________
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Without With
Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

REVENUE, GRANTS AND OTHER SUPPORT
Federal support 15,360              733,965            749,325            
State support 3,510,301        73,066              3,583,367        
Local support 65,698              49,363              115,061            
Interest earnings 70,142              31,803              101,945            

Total revenue, grants and other support 3,661,501        888,197            4,549,698        

NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS
Restrictions satisfied by payments 862,720            (862,720)          -                         

Total net assets released from restrictions 862,720            (862,720)          -                         

EXPENSE
Program (instructional) 2,192,956        -                         2,192,956        
Administrative (support) 1,278,779        -                         1,278,779        
Non-instruction 142,730            -                         142,730            
Other 393,001            -                         393,001            
Depreciation 246,522            -                         246,522            

Total expense 4,253,988        -                         4,253,988        

Change in net assets 270,233            25,477              295,710            

Net assets - beginning of year 1,506,603        553,564            2,060,167        

Net assets - end of year 1,776,836$      579,041$         2,355,877$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

_______________________________________________
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

______________________________________________________________
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2024 2023

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from federal support 377,370            746,676            
Cash received from state support 4,731,371        3,558,330        
Cash received from local support 186,815            108,008            
Cash received from interest 197,350            118,836            
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (4,538,303)       (4,061,134)       

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 954,603            470,716            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid for property and equipment (494,533)          (99,843)             

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid for payments on long-term debt (165,000)          (100,000)          

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 295,070            270,873            

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 2,917,274        2,646,401        

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year 3,212,344$      2,917,274$      

Reconciliation of changes in net assets to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Change in net assets 1,122,144        295,710            
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets

to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 255,679            246,522            
Amortization of debt related costs reported as interest expense 16,891              16,891              
Interest on long-term debt (641)                  (46,206)             

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Federal support receivable (314,576)          24,565              
State support receivable (235,813)          (25,037)             
Local support receivable (22,300)             (7,053)               

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable 87,252              (19,155)             
Deferred grant revenue -                         (27,214)             
Accrued payroll and benefits 45,967              11,693              

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 954,603$         470,716$         

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

__________________________________________________________________________
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

____________________________________________
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Program Administrative  
(Instructional) (Support) Non-instruction Other Total

Salaries 1,560,418        565,512           30,589             -                        2,156,519        
Benefits 442,467           128,047           9,411               -                        579,925           
Purchased services 194,545           911,915           467                   19,438             1,126,365        
Supplies-materials 263,203           42,186             117,668           -                        423,057           
Capital objects 22,989             -                        -                        -                        22,989             
Insurance-judgment -                        17,951             -                        -                        17,951             
Interest -                        -                        -                        344,075           344,075           
Depreciation -                        -                        -                        255,679           255,679           

  
Total expense 2,483,622$      1,665,611$      158,135$         619,192$         4,926,560$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

_______________________________________________________
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

__________________________________________________________________________
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Program Administrative  
(Instructional) (Support) Non-instruction Other Total

Salaries 1,484,417        367,803           26,301             -                        1,878,521        
Benefits 375,001           101,068           7,765               -                        483,834           
Purchased services 157,995           759,460           1,061               31,700             950,216           
Supplies-materials 175,543           36,087             107,603           -                        319,233           
Insurance-judgment -                        14,361             -                        -                        14,361             
Interest -                        -                        -                        361,301           361,301           
Depreciation -                        -                        -                        246,522           246,522           

  
Total expense 2,192,956$      1,278,779$      142,730$         639,523$         4,253,988$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSE
For the Year Ended June 30, 2023

_______________________________________________________
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

__________________________________________________________________________
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GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC 
Deary, Idaho 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
 
NOTE 1 Organization 
 

Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC is a non-profit state-funded public school.  Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC 
serves school aged children (K-12) in the State of Idaho. Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC is a state 
recognized charter school and began instruction in August 2016.  The mission of Gem Prep: 
Nampa, LLC is to prepare students for success in college and professional technical careers by 
providing a high quality, personalized, relevant, and rigorous education through exceptional 
teaching, innovative uses of technology and partnerships with families. 

 
NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Account Policies  
 
Basis of Accounting - Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC uses the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues 
are recognized as it is earned, and expenses are recognized when incurred. 
 
Investments - The School has accounts with the Local Government Investment Pool sponsored 
by the Idaho Legislature. The School carries the balance at fair market value, which also 
represents cost. The investment account is subject to market risk and is uninsured. At June 30, 
2024 and 2023, the balance was $2,410,572 and $2,020,969, respectively. The School has 
accounts with Zions Bank. The School carries the balance at fair mark value, which also 
represents cost. The investment account is subject to market risk and is uninsured. At June 30, 
2024 and 2023, the balance was $566,210 and $547,443, respectively. 
 
Accounts Receivable - No allowance for credit losses was calculated by Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC 
since all receivables were deemed to be collectible. 
 
Property and Equipment - The original cost of property and equipment is depreciated over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets.  Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method for 
financial reporting purposes.  The capitalization policy for Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC is all assets 
that exceed $5,000 in amount and have more than one year of useful life.  The useful lives of 
property and equipment for purposes of computing depreciation are 5 to 7 years for office 
furniture and technology equipment, 15 to 20 years for the site/building improvements, and 39 
years for buildings.  Depreciation expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was 
$255,679 and $246,522, respectively. 
 
Leases - The School leases various buildings. The School determines if an arrangement is a lease 
at inception. Operating and finance leases are included in the lease right-of-use (ROU) assets, 
current liabilities, and ROU lease liabilities accounts on the balance sheets.  
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NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Account Policies (Continued) 
 
ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities 
represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Lease ROU assets and 
liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments 
over the lease term.  As most of the leases do not provide an implicit rate, the risk-free rate of 
return, based on the information available at commencement date, is used to determine the 
present value of lease payments. The lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made 
and excludes lease incentives. The lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the 
lease when it is reasonably certain that the option(s) will be exercised. Lease expense for lease 
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
 
The School elected to apply the short term lease exemption to the following classes of 
underlying assets: building. All leases of the School are accounted for under the short term 
exemption election.  The total short term lease expense for the year ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively, was $0 and $0. 
 
Statement of Cash Flows - For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC 
considers all highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. 
 
Restricted Support - Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted 
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets.  
When a donor restriction expires, either when a stipulated time restriction ends or a purpose 
restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets 
without donor restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released 
from restrictions.  Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC reports gifts of land, buildings, and equipment as 
unrestricted support unless explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be 
used.  For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC had no donated 
assets. 
 
Net Assets - Net assets are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed 
restrictions. Accordingly, the net assets of the School and changes therein are classified as 
follows: 
 

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-
imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary 
objectives of the School.  The School’s board may designate assets without restrictions 
for specific operational purposes from time to time. 

 
Net Assets with Donor Restrictions – Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by 
donors, and grantor.  Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature and those 
restrictions will be met by actions of the School or by the passage of time.  Other donor 
restrictions are perpetual in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be 
maintained in perpetuity. 
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NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Account Policies (Continued) 
 
Revenue Recognition - The School has implemented ASU 2014-09 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, and has applied the five-step process to their contract revenue.  The School’s 
primary source of contract revenue is from sales of food items.  This contract has been 
evaluated and the School has concluded a single performance obligation exists and records the 
revenue at the point in time possession of the food item is taken by the customer.  The 
transaction price for these transactions is based on the agreed upon value of the goods 
provided or services are rendered and allocated to the single performance obligation.  Payment 
for the contract is due at the time of purchase and no credit terms are available.   
 
Use of Estimates - The process of preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions regarding certain types of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and actual 
results may differ from estimated amounts. 
 
Income Tax Status - Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC is exempt from income tax as a publicly supported 
organization under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and therefore has made no 
provision for federal income taxes in the accompanying financial statements.  There was no 
unrelated business income for 2024, 2023, and 2022.  Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC’s Forms 990, 
Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax, for the years ended 2024, 2023, and 2022 are 
subject to examination by the IRS, generally for three years after the returns are filed. 
 
Cost Allocation - The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are 
attributable to more than one program or supporting function.  The School does not have any 
indirect expenses that would need to be allocated for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
Therefore, there is no cost allocation required. 
 
Debt Issuance Costs - The School capitalizes the cost of loan origination fees which are 
amortized over the term of the loan. In accordance with ASU 2015-03 the amortization of debt 
issuance costs are reported as interest expense. Amounts included in interest expense for the 
year ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $11,065 and $11,065, respectively. 
 
Discount on Bonds Payable - The School capitalizes the discount on bonds payable which are 
amortized over the term of the loan. The amortization of the bond discount are reported as 
interest expense. Amounts included in interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023 was $5,826 and $5,826 respectively. 
 
Reports Required by the State - Idaho Department of Education requires the School to submit 
financial information in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America for governmental entities. This information is included as supplementary 
information to the basic financial statements.  The general fund accounts for activities for 
general operations and the other funds presented are used to account for activities related to 
restricted funds and grants the School received.   
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NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Account Policies (Continued) 
 

Accumulated Unpaid Vacation - Under the terms of the “Gem Prep Schools Classified 
Handbook” regular full-time employees working 12 months a year are granted up to 120 hours 
off a year. Annual leave may be accrued but the total annual leave may never exceed fifteen 
days. There were no employees eligible for vacation as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 

Subsequent Events - Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of the auditor’s 
report.  This is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.  The School has 
determined that no material subsequent events have occurred. 
 

NOTE 3 Recently Adopted Accounting Guidance 
 

During FY2024, there were various accounting standard updates (ASU) that became effective. 
The School has reviewed these ASUs and determined none of the ASUs had a material impact 
on the School’s operations and were not applicable. 
 

NOTE 4 Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 
 

Net assets with donor restrictions are restricted for the following purposes: 
 

  2024  2023 
  Subject to expenditure for specified purpose:     

  Medicaid related expenditures    3,907    2,757 
  School building maintenance  88,530  41,412 
  Child nutrition related expenditures  35,707  27,122 
  Bond related expenditures  515,918  505,109 
  Student activity related expenditures       7,797        2,641 
Total net assets with donor restrictions  $651,859  $579,041 

 

NOTE 5 Liquidity and Availability of Financial Assets 
 

The following reflects the School’s financial assets as of the statement of financial position date, 
reduced by amounts not available for general use because of contractual or donor-imposed 
restrictions within one year of the statement of financial position date. 
  2024 2023 
Financial assets, at year end    
  Cash and cash equivalents  3,212,344 2,917,274 
  Federal receivables  411,737 97,161 
  State receivables  295,913 60,100 
  Local receivables          31,053           8,753 
Total financial assets at year end    3,951,047   3,083,288 
Less those unavailable for general expenditures within 
one year, due to: 

   

  Restricted by donor with time or purpose restrictions     (651,859)    (579,041) 
Financial assets available to meet cash needs for 
general expenditures within one year 

  
$3,299,188 

 
$2,504,247 
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NOTE 5 Liquidity and Availability of Financial Assets (Continued) 
 
As part of the School’s liquidity management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to 
be available as its general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due.  
 
NOTE 6 Major Funding Source 
 
Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC received a majority of its revenue from the following sources: 
 
 2024 % of Total Revenue 
Idaho Department of Education $4,967,184 82.12% 
   
 2023 % of Total Revenue 
Idaho Department of Education $3,583,367 78.76% 
 
NOTE 7 Bonds Payable 
 
Bonds payable for the School as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following: 
 
  2024  2023 
Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bond. Yearly 
payments with an interest rate of 3% and matures 
in fiscal year fiscal year 2057 

  
 

  9,835,000 

  
 

  10,000,000 
Total Bonds Payable  9,835,000  10,000,000 
Less: Current Portion      (170,000)       (165,000) 
Long Term Bonds Payable   $9,665,000  $9,835,000 
 
Maturities of principal amounts of bonds payable at June 30, 2024 are as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30   
2025  170,000 
2026  175,000 
2027  180,000 
2028  185,000 
2029  190,000 

2030-2034  1,050,000 
2035-2039  1,230,000 
2040-2044  1,445,000 
2045-2049  1,720,000 
2050-2054    2,060,000 
2055-2057    1,430,000 

Total  $9,835,000 
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NOTE 7 Bonds Payable (Continued) 
 
The following items are required to be maintained by the School related to the bond: 
 
Debt Service Reserve Fund. The School is required to maintain a balance on deposit to be used 
to pay principal and interest on the bonds in the event there are insufficient funds to make the 
annual debt service payments.  The balance of the Debt Service Reserve Fund was $516,521 as 
of June 30, 2024. 
 
Operating Reserve Balance and Covenant as to Cash on Hand.  Beginning in FY2022, the School 
is required to maintain unrestricted cash on hand in its operating fund equal to, or greater than, 
45 days of operating expenses as of June 30th.  The School was in compliance with this 
covenant as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio. Beginning in FY2023, as long as there are bonds 
outstanding, the School is required to maintain a minimum coverage ratio of either 1.0 or 1.1, 
depending on the balance of unrestricted cash on hand, as of June 30th.  The School was in 
compliance with this covenant as of June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
NOTE 8 Employee’s Retirement System 
 
Public Employee Retirement System of Idaho (PERSI), the PERSI Base Plan, a cost sharing 
multiple-employer public retirement system, was created by the Idaho State Legislature.  It is a 
defined benefit plan requiring that both the member and the employer contribute. The plan 
provides benefits based on members’ years of service, age, and compensation.  In addition, 
benefits are provided for disability, death, and survivors of eligible members or beneficiaries.  
 
The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions is established in Idaho Code.  Designed 
as a mandatory system for eligible state and school district employees, the legislation provided 
for political subdivisions to participate by contractual agreement with PERSI.  After 5 years of 
credited service, members become fully vested in retirement benefits earned to date.  
Members are eligible for retirement benefits upon attainment of the ages specified for their 
employment classification.  For each month of credited service, the annual service retirement 
allowance is 2.0% of the average monthly salary for the highest consecutive 42 months. 
 
The actuarially determined contribution requirements of the School and its employees are 
established and may be amended by the PERSI Board of Trustees.  The contribution rates for 
employees are set by statute at 60% of the employer rate for general employees and 72% for 
police and firefighters. As of June 30, 2024 it was 6.71% for general employees and 7.62% for 
school members. The employer contribution rate is set by the Retirement Board and was 
11.18% of covered compensation for general employees and 12.69% for school members. The 
School’s contributions required and paid for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were 
$258,407 and $218,267, respectively. 
 
PERSI is subject to pronouncement issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) and was required to implement GASB 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plan-an 
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NOTE 8 Employee’s Retirement System (Continued) 
 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 25, effective as of June 30, 2014.  The statement 
established standards and specified the required approach for measuring the pension (asset) 
liability of contributing entities for benefits provided through the pension plan (the net pension 
(asset) liability).  As of June 30, 2023, the most recent available audited financial statement of 
PERSI at the time of issuance, the Plan was reported to be 83.83% funded. 
 
The School’s proportion of the net pension (asset) liability was based on the School’s share of 
contributions in the Base Plan pension plan relative to the total contributions of all participating 
PERSI Base Plan employers.  At June 30, 2023, the School’s proportion was 0.04049689% and 
the net pension (asset) liability was $1,616,097.  
 
PERSI issues publicly available stand-alone financial reports that include audited financial 
statements and required supplementary information.  These reports may be obtained from 
PERSI’s website www.persi.idaho.gov. 
 
NOTE 9 Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan – Sick Leave Plan 
 
The School contributes to the Sick Leave Insurance Reserve Fund (Sick Leave Plan) which is a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan that covers members receiving 
retirement benefits that are administered by PERSI that covers substantially all employees of 
the State of Idaho, its agencies, and various participating political subdivisions. The cost to 
administer the plan is financed through the contributions and investment earnings of the plan.  
 
Group retiree health, dental, accident, and life insurance premiums may qualify as a benefit. 
Retirees who have a sick leave account can use their balance as a credit towards these 
premiums paid directly to the applicable insurance company. 
 
The contribution rate for employees are set by statute at .065% of covered compensation for 
state members. Covered school members contribution rates are set by statute based on the 
number of sick days offered by the employer. The contribution rate of 1.16% for school 
members with nine or ten sick days, 1.26% for school members with 11-14 sick days. If a school 
member has more than 14 days of sick leave, then the contribution rate will be set by the PERSI 
Retirement Board based on current cost and actuarial data and reviewed annually. Beginning 
January 1, 2020 PERSI approved an 18-month rate holiday.   During the rate holiday, all sick 
leave contribution rates are 0%.  The holiday was extended to June 30, 2026, therefore the 
School’s contributions required and paid were $0 for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
 
PERSI is subject to pronouncement issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) and was required to implement GASB 74, Financial Reporting for postemployment 
Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans, effective as of June 30, 2017. The statement 
established standards and specified the required approach for measuring the OPEB asset of 
contributing entities for benefits provided through the OPEB plan (the net OPEB asset). As of 
June 30, 2023, the most recent available audited financial statement of PERSI at the time of 
issuance, the Plan was reported to be 124.33% funded.  
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NOTE 9 Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan – Sick Leave Plan (Continued) 
 
The School’s proportion of the net OPEB asset was based on the School’s share of contributions 
in the Base Plan OPEB plan relative to the total contributions of all participating PERSI Base Plan 
employers. At June 30, 2023, the School’s proportion was 0.0785495%, and the estimated OPEB 
sick leave asset was $57,001 
 
PERSI issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and the 
required supplementary information for the Sick Leave Plan. The reports may be obtained from 
PERSI’s website www.persi.idaho.gov.  
 
NOTE 10 Contingent Liabilities  
 
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by 
grantor agencies, principally the federal and state governments.  Any disallowed claims, 
including amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds.  The 
amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined 
at this time although the government expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial. 
 
NOTE 11 Risk Management 
 
Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to 
and destruction of assets; errors and omissions and natural disasters for which the School 
carries commercial insurance.  There have been no significant reductions in coverage from the 
prior year and settlements have not exceeded coverage in the past year. 
 
NOTE 12 Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The School maintains bank accounts at one financial institution.  Accounts at an institution are 
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000.  Cash at this 
institution exceeded federally insured limits at various times throughout the year. 
 
NOTE 13 Related Parties 
 
Gem Innovations of Idaho, Inc. is the sole member of Gem Prep: Meridian, LLC, Gem Prep: 
Online, LLC, Gem Prep: Pocatello, LLC, Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC, Gem Prep: Meridian North, LLC, 
Gem Prep: Meridian South, LLC, Gem Prep: Twin Falls, LLC, and Gem Prep: Idaho Falls, LLC and 
is responsible for the management of the schools.  Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc. serves 
as the board for all Gem Prep schools. Gem Innovation Schools Foundation’s board is a separate 
board but the same individuals serve on both the Gem Innovations of Idaho, Inc. Board, and the 
Gem Innovation Schools Foundation, LLC Board. 
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NOTE 13 Related Parties (Continued) 
 
Transactions between Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC and the other related parties for the year ended 
June 30, 2024 are as follows: 
 

Organization 
Description of 

Transaction 
Payment 
Received 

Payment 
Made 

Gem Prep: Online, LLC Administrative services N/A $382,854 
Gem Prep: Online, LLC Various shared activities $42,854 $69,981 
Gem Innovations Schools  
Foundation, LLC 

Grant distribution $120,750 N/A 

Gem Prep: Pocatello, LLC Various shared activities N/A $10,986 
Gem Prep: Meridian North, LLC Various shared activities $30,298 $22,702 
Gem Prep: Meridian, LLC Various shared activities $233 $34,469 
Gem Prep: Meridian South, LLC Various shared activities $30,325 $107 
Gem Prep: Twin Falls, LLC Various shared activities $10 N/A 
 
Transactions between Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC and the other related parties for the year ended 
June 30, 2023 are as follows: 
 

Organization 
Description of 

Transaction 
Payment 
Received 

Payment 
Made 

Gem Prep: Online, LLC Administrative services N/A $296,729 
Gem Prep: Online, LLC Various shared activities $11,162 N/A 
Gem Prep: Meridian North, LLC Various shared activities $23,306 $63,704 
Gem Prep: Meridian, LLC Various shared activities $15,838 $21,133 
Gem Prep: Meridian South, LLC Various shared activities $33,944 N/A 
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



ASSETS   
Current assets:

Cash 752,083            
Investments 2,460,261        
Other receivables:

Federal 411,737            
State 295,913            
Local 31,053              

Total current assets 3,951,047        

Noncurrent assets:
Non-depreciable capital assets 154,885            
Depreciable capital assets 9,650,195        
Less: accumulated depreciation (622,910)          
Net OPEB asset - sick leave 57,001              

Total noncurrent assets 9,239,171        

Total assets 13,190,218      

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Net OPEB - sick leave related items 39,580              
Pension related items 923,861            

Total deferred outflows of resources 963,441            

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 128,174            
Accrued payroll and benefits 188,632            
Accrued interest 56,585              
Current portion of bond payable 170,000            

Total current liabilities 543,391            

Noncurrent liabilities:
Noncurrent portion of bond payable 9,665,000        
Unamortized discount on bonds payable (190,816)          
Net pension liability 1,616,097        

Total noncurrent liabilities 11,090,281      

Total liabilities 11,633,672      

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Net OPEB - sick leave related items 39,548              
Pension related items 25,184              

Total deferred inflows of resources 64,732              

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets (452,701)          
Restricted for:

Debt service 515,918            
Grant programs 47,411              
Other purposes 88,530              
Net OPEB asset - sick leave 57,001              

Unrestricted 2,199,096        

Total net position 2,455,255$      

Adjustments to conform with GAAP:
Net OPEB asset - sick leave (57,001)            
Deferred outflow of resources (963,441)          
Deferred inflow of resources 64,732              
Unamortized debt issuance costs 362,379            
Net pension liability 1,616,097        

Total adjustments to conform with GAAP 1,022,766        

Net assets - end of year (GAAP) 3,478,021$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

SCHEDULE I - STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2024

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Net (Expense)
Revenue and

Changes in Net
Program Revenues Position

Operating Capital Grants
Charges for Grants and and Governmental

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS
Governmental activities:

Instruction 2,710,841          -                          544,099             -                          (2,166,742)         
Support Services:

Pupil support 316,793             -                          -                          -                          (316,793)            
Staff support 54,390                -                          -                          -                          (54,390)              
General administration 413,694             -                          -                          -                          (413,694)            
School/business administration 404,005             -                          -                          -                          (404,005)            
Maintenance/custodial 199,668             -                          19,293                -                          (180,375)            
Transportation 269,622             -                          -                          -                          (269,622)            

Child nutrition 160,283             55,626                108,931             -                          4,274                  
Student activities 7,830                  -                          -                          -                          (7,830)                
Capital outlay 22,989                -                          -                          -                          (22,989)              
Debt services 352,448             -                          -                          -                          (352,448)            
Depreciation, unallocated 255,679             -                          -                          -                          (255,679)            

Total school 5,168,242$        55,626$             672,323$           -$                        (4,440,293)         

General revenues
Federal and State aid not restricted to specific purposes 4,986,807          
Other 153,489             
Interest and investment earnings 180,459             

Total general revenues 5,320,755          

Change in net position 880,462             

Net position - beginning 1,574,793          

Net position - ending 2,455,255$        

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

SCHEDULE II - STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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General Nonmajor
Fund Funds Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES

Assets:
Cash 231,655            520,428            752,083            
Investments 2,396,881        63,380              2,460,261        
Due from other funds 306,049            76,803              382,852            
Other receivables:

Federal -                         411,737            411,737            
State 295,913            -                         295,913            
Local 30,967              86                      31,053              

Total assets 3,261,465        1,072,434        4,333,899        

Deferred outflows of resources -                         -                         -                         

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 3,261,465$      1,072,434$      4,333,899$      

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
AND FUND BALANCE

Liabilities:
Due to other funds -                         382,852            382,852            
Accounts payable 33,269              94,905              128,174            
Accrued payroll and benefits 188,632            -                         188,632            

Total liabilities 221,901            477,757            699,658            

Deferred inflows of resources -                         -                         -                         

Fund balance:
Assigned 150,357            22,035              172,392            
Restricted 88,530              572,642            661,172            
Unassigned 2,800,677        -                         2,800,677        

Total fund balance 3,039,564        594,677            3,634,241        

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE 3,261,465$      1,072,434$      4,333,899$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

SCHEDULE III - BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 2024

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Total fund balances - governmental funds 3,634,241        

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 
resources and therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds:

Cost of capital assets 9,805,080        
Accumulated depreciation (622,910)          

Certain pension related items are recorded as a deferred outflow or 
inflow of resources and recognized in future periods for governmental
activities:

Deferred outflow of resources 923,861           
Deferred inflow of resources (25,184)            

Certain OPEB sick leave related items are recorded as a deferred outflow or inflow of 
resources and recognized in future periods for governmental activities:

Deferred outflow of resources 39,580              
Deferred inflow of resources (39,548)            

Total Net OPEB asset for PERSI sick leave is a long-term asset and is not
available to pay current year expenditures, therefore is not reported
as an asset in governmental funds 57,001              

Interest is accrued on outstanding debt in the government-wide financial
statements, whereas in the government fund financial statements, an interest
expenditure is reported when paid (56,585)            

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and
therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds.  Long-term liabilities
at year-end consist of the following:

Bonds payable (9,835,000)       
Unamortized bond discount 190,816           
Net pension liability (1,616,097)       

Total net position - governmental activities 2,455,255$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

SCHEDULE IV - RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO NET 

June 30, 2024
POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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General Nonmajor
Fund Funds Total

REVENUES
Federal 18,720              673,226            691,946            
State 4,853,778        113,406            4,967,184        
Local 158,680            230,894            389,574            

Total revenues 5,031,178        1,017,526        6,048,704        

EXPENDITURES
Instruction 1,981,509        502,113            2,483,622        
Support 1,342,649        322,962            1,665,611        
Non-instruction -                         158,135            158,135            
Capital asset program -                         501,017            501,017            
Debt service program -                         512,263            512,263            

Total expenditures 3,324,158        1,996,490        5,320,648        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures 1,707,020        (978,964)          728,056            

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in (out) (1,005,181)       1,005,181        -                         

Net change in fund balance 701,839            26,217              728,056            

Fund balance - beginning of year 2,337,725        568,460            2,906,185        

Fund balance - end of year 3,039,564$      594,677$         3,634,241$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

SCHEDULE V - STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
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Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 728,056           

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of 
activities are different because:

Capital outlays to purchase or build capital assets are reported in governmental
funds as expenditures.  However, for governmental activities those costs are
capitalized and allocated over their estimated useful lives as annual
depreciation expense in the statement of activities:

Capital outlays 501,017           
Depreciation expense (255,679)          

245,338           

Net pension (asset) liability adjustments:
Fiscal year 2023 employer PERSI contributions recognized as pension expense in 
the current year. (218,267)          
Fiscal year 2024 employer PERSI contributions deferred to subsequent year 258,407           
Pension related amortization revenue (expense) (285,941)          

(245,801)          
Net OPEB asset - sick leave adjustment:

Fiscal year 2023 employer PERSI Sick Leave contributions recognized as OPEB
 expense in the current year -                        
Fiscal year 2024 employer PERSI Sick Leave contributions deferred to subsequent year -                        
OPEB related amortization revenue (expense) (6,946)              

(6,946)              

Repayment of long-term debt obligations is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces liabilities in the Statement of Net Position 165,000           

In the governmental activities, bond discounts are amortized over the life of the loan (5,826)              

Interest is accrued on outstanding debt in the government-wide financial 
statements, whereas in the governmental fund financial statements, an interest
expenditure is reported when due 641                   

Net change in net position - governmental activities 880,462$         

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

SCHEUDLE VI - RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
 BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Variance
Favorable

Actual Budget (Unfavorable)

REVENUES
Local:

Interest earnings 142,840           50,000              92,840              
Contributions/donations 200                   -                         200                   
Other local revenue 15,640              52,000              (36,360)            

Total local 158,680           102,000           56,680              

State:
Base support 3,548,259        3,109,905        438,354           
Benefit apportionment 436,004           388,122           47,882              
Transportation 344,977           143,000           201,977           
Lottery 43,718              38,917              4,801                
Other state support 475,496           336,713           138,783           
Other state revenue 5,324                4,680                644                   

Total state 4,853,778        4,021,337        832,441           

Federal:
Indirect unrestricted revenue 18,720              18,720              -                         

Total revenues 5,031,178        4,142,057        889,121           

EXPENDITURES
Instruction:

Salaries 1,433,003        1,438,600        5,597                
Benefits 408,052           464,634           56,582              
Purchased services 60,067              66,700              6,633                
Supplies-materials 57,398              62,650              5,252                
Capital objects 22,989              -                         (22,989)            

Total instruction 1,981,509        2,032,584        51,075              

Support:
Salaries 486,010           421,103           (64,907)            
Benefits 122,526           134,368           11,842              
Purchased services 691,949           927,708           235,759           
Supplies-materials 24,213              33,200              8,987                
Insurance-judgment 17,951              16,000              (1,951)               

Total support 1,342,649        1,532,379        189,730           

Contingency -                         205,917           205,917           
 

Total expenditures 3,324,158        3,770,880        446,722           

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures  1,707,020        371,177           1,335,843        

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfer in (out) (1,005,181)       (553,369)          (451,812)          

Net change in fund balance 701,839           (182,192)$        884,031$         

Fund balance - beginning of year 2,337,725        

Fund balance - end of year 3,039,564$      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE VII - STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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Variance
Favorable

Actual Budget (Unfavorable)

INSTRUCTION
Elementary school:

Salaries 921,578            852,257            (69,321)             
Benefits 249,746            274,681            24,935              
Purchased services 30,794              26,244              (4,550)               
Supplies-materials 30,388              37,150              6,762                
Capital objects 22,989              -                         (22,989)             

Total elementary school 1,255,495        1,190,332        (65,163)             

Secondary school:
Salaries 468,903            451,100            (17,803)             
Benefits 130,146            148,163            18,017              
Purchased services 28,934              39,956              11,022              
Supplies-materials 26,760              24,400              (2,360)               

Total secondary school 654,743            663,619            8,876                

Special education:
Salaries 42,522              135,243            92,721              
Benefits 28,160              41,790              13,630              
Purchased services 339                    500                    161                    
Supplies-materials 250                    1,100                850                    

Total special education 71,271              178,633            107,362            

TOTAL INSTRUCTION
Salaries 1,433,003        1,438,600        5,597                
Benefits 408,052            464,634            56,582              
Purchased services 60,067              66,700              6,633                
Supplies-materials 57,398              62,650              5,252                
Capital objects 22,989              -                         (22,989)             

Total instruction 1,981,509$      2,032,584$      51,075$            

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE VIII - SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION - 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
BUDGET AND ACTUAL
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Variance
Favorable

Actual Budget (Unfavorable)

SUPPORT
Attendance-guidance-health:

Salaries 61,447              61,480              33                      
Benefits 17,163              19,597              2,434                
Supplies-materials 639                    550                    (89)                     

Total attendance-guidance-health 79,249              81,627              2,378                

Special education support services:
Salaries 143,607            92,861              (50,746)             
Benefits 19,361              28,013              8,652                
Purchased services (4,411)               37,655              42,066              
Supplies-materials 500                    550                    50                      

Total special education support services 159,057            159,079            22                      

Instruction improvement:
Salaries 5,750                1,000                (4,750)               
Benefits 1,126                -                         (1,126)               
Purchased services 2,182                5,500                3,318                

Total instruction improvement 9,058                6,500                (2,558)               

Educational media:
Supplies-materials 1,000                10,000              9,000                

Instruction-related technology:
Salaries 13,296              12,632              (664)                  
Benefits 4,466                5,779                1,313                
Supplies-materials 7,268                2,500                (4,768)               

Total instruction-related technology 25,030              20,911              (4,119)               

Board of education:
Benefits 18                      25                      7                        
Purchased services 12,871              17,000              4,129                
Supplies-materials -                         1,100                1,100                
Insurance - judgment 17,951              16,000              (1,951)               

Total board of education 30,840              34,125              3,285                

District administration:
Purchased services 314,869            349,803            34,934              

School administration:
Salaries 261,910            253,130            (8,780)               
Benefits 79,003              78,954              (49)                     
Purchased services 10,735              15,000              4,265                
Supplies-materials 5,744                2,500                (3,244)               

Total school administration 357,392            349,584            (7,808)               

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE VIII - SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION - 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (CONTINUED)
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 Variance
Favorable

Actual Budget (Unfavorable)

SUPPORT (CONTINUED)
Business operation:

Benefits 1,389                2,000                611                    
Purchased services 9,373                6,000                (3,373)               
Supplies-materials 209                    1,500                1,291                

Total business operation 10,971              9,500                (1,471)               

Administrative technology service:
Purchased services 1,543                1,750                207                    
Supplies-materials -                         1,500                1,500                

Total administrative technology service 1,543                3,250                1,707                

Buildings - care (custodial):
Purchased services 53,089              106,000            52,911              
Supplies-materials 8,571                8,000                (571)                  

Total buildings - care (custodial) 61,660              114,000            52,340              

Maintenance - student-occupied buildings:
Purchased services 18,107              75,000              56,893              

Maintenance - grounds:
Purchased services 3,969                20,000              16,031              
Supplies-materials 208                    -                         (208)                  

Total maintenance - grounds 4,177                20,000              15,823              

Security:
Supplies-materials 74                      5,000                4,926                

Pupil-to-school transportation:
Purchased services 269,622            294,000            24,378              

TOTAL SUPPORT
Salaries 486,010            421,103            (64,907)             
Benefits 122,526            134,368            11,842              
Purchased services 691,949            927,708            235,759            
Supplies-materials 24,213              33,200              8,987                
Insurance - judgment 17,951              16,000              (1,951)               

Total support 1,342,649$      1,532,379$      189,730$         

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE VIII - SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION - 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
BUDGET AND ACTUAL (CONTINUED)
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State
Other Local GIS Student State Substance Securing Our

Grants Foundation Activities Technology Abuse Future Grant

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES

Assets:
Cash -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               
Investments -                               13,691                    -                               -                               -                               -                               
Due from other funds -                               9,635                       7,722                       11,985                    3,499                       -                               
Other receivables:

Federal -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               
Local -                               59                            -                               -                               -                               -                               

Total assets -                               23,385                    7,722                       11,985                    3,499                       -                               

Deferred outflows of resources -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES -$                             23,385$                  7,722$                    11,985$                  3,499$                    -$                             

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
AND FUND BALANCE

Liabilities:
Due to other funds -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               
Accounts payable -                               1,350                       (75)                           11,985                    3,499                       -                               

Total liabilities -                               1,350                       (75)                           11,985                    3,499                       -                               

Deferred inflows of resources -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               -                               

Fund balance:
Assigned -                               22,035                    -                               -                               -                               -                               
Restricted -                               -                               7,797                       -                               -                               -                               

Total fund balance -                               22,035                    7,797                       -                               -                               -                               

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE -$                             23,385$                  7,722$                    11,985$                  3,499$                    -$                             

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE IX - COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2024
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ESSER III (ARPA) Title I-A, ESSA IDEA Part B IDEA Part B IDEA Part B
American Improving Basic (611 School (619 Pre-School (ARPA) American Medicaid

Rescue Plan Act Programs Age 3-21) Age 3-5) Rescue Plan Act Reimbursement

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES

Assets:
Cash -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                3,907                       
Investments -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Due from other funds -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Other receivables:

Federal 206,355                  122,316                  67,154                     245                          -                                2,028                       
Local -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total assets 206,355                  122,316                  67,154                     245                          -                                5,935                       

Deferred outflows of resources -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 206,355$                122,316$                67,154$                  245$                        -$                             5,935$                     

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
AND FUND BALANCE

Liabilities:
Due to other funds 206,355                  52,452                     67,154                     245                          -                                2,028                       
Accounts payable -                                69,864                     -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total liabilities 206,355                  122,316                  67,154                     245                          -                                2,028                       

Deferred inflows of resources -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Fund balance:
Assigned -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Restricted -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                3,907                       

Total fund balance -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                3,907                       

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE 206,355$                122,316$                67,154$                  245$                        -$                             5,935$                     

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE IX - COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

June 30, 2024
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Title IV-A, ESSA Title II-A, ESSA
Student Support Supporting Bond Capital 

and Academic Effective Child Redemption Construction
Enrichment IDEA Mini Grant Instruction Nutrition and Interest Projects Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES

Assets:
Cash -                                -                                -                                -                                516,521                   -                                520,428                   
Investments -                                -                                -                                -                                40,376                     9,313                       63,380                     
Due from other funds -                                -                                -                                37,478                     -                                6,484                       76,803                     
Other receivables:

Federal 4,655                       -                                8,984                       -                                -                                -                                411,737                   
Local -                                -                                -                                27                             -                                -                                86                             

Total assets 4,655                       -                                8,984                       37,505                     556,897                   15,797                     1,072,434               

Deferred outflows of resources -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 4,655$                     -$                              8,984$                     37,505$                   556,897$                15,797$                   1,072,434$             

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
AND FUND BALANCE

Liabilities:
Due to other funds 4,655                       -                                8,984                       -                                40,979                     -                                382,852                   
Accounts payable -                                -                                -                                1,798                       -                                6,484                       94,905                     

Total liabilities 4,655                       -                                8,984                       1,798                       40,979                     6,484                       477,757                   

Deferred inflows of resources -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Fund balance:
Assigned -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                22,035                     
Restricted -                                -                                -                                35,707                     515,918                   9,313                       572,642                   

Total fund balance -                                -                                -                                35,707                     515,918                   9,313                       594,677                   

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE 4,655$                     -$                              8,984$                     37,505$                   556,897$                15,797$                   1,072,434$             

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE IX - COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)

June 30, 2024
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State
Other Local GIS Student State Substance Securing Our

Grants Foundation Activities Technology Abuse Future Grant

REVENUES
Federal -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
State -                         -                         -                         86,288              7,825                19,293              
Local 120,750            -                         16,899              -                         -                         -                         
Earnings on investments -                         708                   -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total revenues 120,750            708                   16,899              86,288              7,825                19,293              

EXPENDITURES  
Instruction:

Salaries -                         -                         1,200                -                         -                         -                         
Benefits -                         -                         239                   -                         -                         -                         
Purchased services 120,750            1,350                3,183                -                         -                         -                         
Supplies-materials -                         -                         7,121                68,730              -                         -                         

Total instruction 120,750            1,350                11,743              68,730              -                         -                         

Support:
Salaries -                         -                         -                         -                         1,283                -                         
Benefits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Purchased services -                         -                         -                         -                         6,127                19,293              
Supplies-materials -                         -                         -                         17,558              415                   -                         

Total support -                         -                         -                         17,558              7,825                19,293              

Non-instruction:
Salaries -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Benefits -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Purchased services -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Supplies-materials -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total non-instruction -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Capital asset program:
Capital objects -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Debt service program:
Purchased services -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Principal -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
Interest -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total debt service program -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Total expenditures 120,750            1,350                11,743              86,288              7,825                19,293              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures -                         (642)                  5,156                -                         -                         -                         

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in (out) 701                   -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         

Net change in fund balance 701                   (642)                  5,156                -                         -                         -                         

Fund balance (deficit) - beginning of year (701)                  22,677              2,641                -                         -                         -                         

Fund balance - end of year -$                      22,035$            7,797$              -$                      -$                      -$                      

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE X - COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
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ESSER III (ARPA) Title I-A, ESSA IDEA Part B IDEA Part B IDEA Part B
American Improving Basic (611 School (619 Pre-School (ARPA) American Medicaid

Rescue Plan Act Programs Age 3-21) Age 3-5) Rescue Plan Act Reimbursement

REVENUES
Federal 237,565                   156,903                   86,836                     1,172                       14,505                     38,916                     
State -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Local -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Earnings on investments -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                3                               

Total revenues 237,565                   156,903                   86,836                     1,172                       14,505                     38,919                     

EXPENDITURES  
Instruction:

Salaries 34,726                     51,353                     21,120                     -                                4,632                       -                                
Benefits 6,640                       18,604                     3,743                       -                                1,605                       -                                
Purchased services 1,680                       407                           -                                -                                -                                -                                
Supplies-materials 37,983                     86,539                     305                           1,172                       3,955                       -                                

Total instruction 81,029                     156,903                   25,168                     1,172                       10,192                     -                                

Support:
Salaries -                                -                                52,680                     -                                -                                25,539                     
Benefits -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                5,521                       
Purchased services 156,536                   -                                8,988                       -                                4,313                       24,709                     
Supplies-materials -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total support 156,536                   -                                61,668                     -                                4,313                       55,769                     

Non-instruction:
Salaries -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Benefits -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Purchased services -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Supplies-materials -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total non-instruction -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Capital asset program:
Capital objects -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Debt service program:
Purchased services -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Principal -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                
Interest -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total debt service program -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                

Total expenditures 237,565                   156,903                   86,836                     1,172                       14,505                     55,769                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                (16,850)                    

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in (out) -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                18,000                     

Net change in fund balance -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                1,150                       

Fund balance (deficit) - beginning of year -                                -                                -                                -                                -                                2,757                       

Fund balance - end of year -$                              -$                              -$                              -$                              -$                              3,907$                     

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE X - COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
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Title IV-A, ESSA Title II-A, ESSA
Student Support Supporting Bond Capital 

and Academic Effective Child Redemption Construction
Enrichment IDEA Mini Grant Instruction Nutrition and Interest Projects Total

REVENUES
Federal 5,180                      5,250                      17,968                    108,931                  -                              -                              673,226                  
State -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              113,406                  
Local -                              -                              -                              55,626                    -                              -                              193,275                  
Earnings on investments -                              -                              -                              -                              36,450                    458                         37,619                    

Total revenues 5,180                      5,250                      17,968                    164,557                  36,450                    458                         1,017,526              

EXPENDITURES  
Instruction:

Salaries -                              -                              14,384                    -                              -                              -                              127,415                  
Benefits -                              -                              3,584                      -                              -                              -                              34,415                    
Purchased services 5,180                      1,928                      -                              -                              -                              -                              134,478                  
Supplies-materials -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              205,805                  

Total instruction 5,180                      1,928                      17,968                    -                              -                              -                              502,113                  

Support:
Salaries -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              79,502                    
Benefits -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              5,521                      
Purchased services -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              219,966                  
Supplies-materials -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              17,973                    

Total support -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              322,962                  

Non-instruction:
Salaries -                              -                              -                              30,589                    -                              -                              30,589                    
Benefits -                              -                              -                              9,411                      -                              -                              9,411                      
Purchased services -                              -                              -                              467                         -                              -                              467                         
Supplies-materials -                              -                              -                              117,668                  -                              -                              117,668                  

Total non-instruction -                              -                              -                              158,135                  -                              -                              158,135                  

Capital asset program:
Capital objects -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              501,017                  501,017                  

Debt service program:
Purchased services -                              -                              -                              -                              19,438                    -                              19,438                    
Principal -                              -                              -                              -                              165,000                  -                              165,000                  
Interest -                              -                              -                              -                              327,825                  -                              327,825                  

Total debt service program -                              -                              -                              -                              512,263                  -                              512,263                  

Total expenditures 5,180                      1,928                      17,968                    158,135                  512,263                  501,017                  1,996,490              

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures -                              3,322                      -                              6,422                      (475,813)                (500,559)                (978,964)                

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in (out) -                              (3,322)                     -                              2,163                      486,622                  501,017                  1,005,181              

Net change in fund balance -                              -                              -                              8,585                      10,809                    458                         26,217                    

Fund balance (deficit) - beginning of year -                              -                              -                              27,122                    505,109                  8,855                      568,460                  

Fund balance - end of year -$                            -$                            -$                            35,707$                  515,918$               9,313$                    594,677$               

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE X - COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
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Fund
Actual 

Revenues
Budgeted 
Revenues

Actual 
Expenditures

Budgeted 
Expenditures

Other 
Financing 

Sources (Uses)

Beginning 
(Deficit) Fund 

Balance
Ending Fund 

Balance

Other Local Grants 120,750            -                         120,750            -                         701                    (701)                  -                         
GIS Foundation 708                    -                         1,350                21,835              -                         22,677              22,035              
Student Activities 16,899              -                         11,743              3,000                -                         2,641                7,797                
State Technology 86,288              75,316              86,288              75,316              -                         -                         -                         
State Substance Abuse 7,825                7,272                7,825                7,272                -                         -                         -                         
Securing Our Future Grant 19,293              -                         19,293              -                         -                         -                         -                         
ESSER III (ARPA) American Rescue Plan Act 237,565            -                         237,565            -                         -                         -                         -                         
Title I-A, ESSA - Improving Basic Programs 156,903            134,095            156,903            134,095            -                         -                         -                         
IDEA Part B (611 School Age 3-21) 86,836              86,565              86,836              86,565              -                         -                         -                         
IDEA Part B (619 Pre-School Age 3-5) 1,172                1,352                1,172                1,352                -                         -                         -                         
IDEA Part B (ARPA) American Rescue Plan Act 14,505              -                         14,505              -                         -                         -                         -                         
Medicaid Reimbursement 38,919              140,506            55,769              140,506            18,000              2,757                3,907                
Title IV-A, ESSSA - Student Support and Academic Enrichment 5,180                10,998              5,180                10,998              -                         -                         -                         
IDEA Mini Grant 5,250                -                         1,928                -                         (3,322)               -                         -                         
Title II-A, ESSA - Supporting Effective Instruction 17,968              22,125              17,968              22,125              -                         -                         -                         
Child Nutrition 164,557            149,000            158,135            139,369            2,163                27,122              35,707              
Bond Redemption and Interest 36,450              522,863            512,263            512,863            486,622            505,109            515,918            
Capital Construction Projects 458                    -                         501,017            -                         501,017            8,855                9,313                

Total 1,017,526$      1,150,092$      1,996,490$      1,155,296$      1,005,181$      568,460$          594,677$          

GEM PREP: NAMPA, LLC
Deary, Idaho

NONMAJOR FUNDS
SCHEDULE XI - COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024
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GEM PREP: NAMPA

Budget Projected Budget 
FY 2024-25 Budget FY2024-25 FY2023-24 FY2023-24

Enrollment 485 509 445

REVENUE
State Support 3,907,122           3,827,374           3,498,027           
Investments 50,000                 125,000               60,000                 
Grant 125,000               
Local Revenue 75,000                 102,105               52,000                 
Federal Revenue 325,197               371,992               373,855               
COVID Grant Revenue 237,565               
Other State Support 288,370               629,845               369,448               
Nutrition 155,700               160,228               149,000               
Transportation 149,658               352,237               143,000               
Facilities 197,644               94,000                 93,450                 
Total Revenue 5,148,691          6,025,346          4,738,780          

EXPENSES

WAGES
Teachers 1,372,179           1,327,693           1,276,733           
Aides 244,857               174,112               142,402               
SpEd Teachers 239,055               204,811               228,104               
Counselor 63,325                 61,730                 61,480                 
Professional Development 1,000 5,750 1,000 
Technology 13,947                 13,296                 12,632                 
School Admin 199,086               190,221               189,721               
School Support Staff 63,750                 64,677                 63,409                 
Benefits 782,778               559,143               651,559               
TOTAL WAGES AND BENEFITS 2,979,977          2,601,433          2,627,040          

INSTRUCTIONAL
Purchased Services
Professional Services 46,468                 153,538               43,798                 
Copiers 4,000 4,075 3,000 
Student Transportation
Communication
Internet 23,400                 23,400                 23,400                 
Phones 7,011 7,438 7,000 

Appendix H2: 24/25 Budget Summary 



Advertising
Travel 407                        

Supplies
Supplies 21,900                 12,446                 18,300                 
Textbooks 142,839               151,787               122,612               
Software Licences 65,000                 83,191                 70,000                 

Captial Objects
Equipment 58,000                 35,078                 10,316                 
Software

SPECIAL EDUCATION
Purchased Services
Contracted Services 106,236               182,421               202,155               
Travel
Textbooks & Supplies 3,514                    3,540                    2,629                    

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Purchased Services
Contracted Services 2,000                    3,374                    6,000                    
Travel 1,500                    1,404                    500                        

BOARD OF ED
Purchased Services
Professional Services 18,000                 13,028                 17,000                 
Dues & Fees 3,425                    843                        1,100                    
E&O Insurance 20,000                 17,951                 16,000                 

DISTRICT ADMIN
Purchased Services
Contracted Services 390,712               382,787               349,803               

Insurance

SCHOOL ADMIN
Purchased Services 5,500                    5,395                    5,000                    
Travel 29                           

Supplies & Materials 5,500                    5,744                    2,500                    

Equipment

BUSINESS ADMIN



Purchased Services
Other Professional Fee 6,000                    6,538                    5,500                    
Advertising 10,500                 8,114                    10,500                 
Dues & Fees 1,800                    1,488                    

Supplies & Materials
Supplies 1,000                    209                        1,500                    

DISTRICT TECH
Purchased Services 1,750                    1,543                    1,750                    

Supplies & Materials
Supplies  4,693                    1,450                    1,000                    
Software 1,500                    3,000                    

Capital Objects
Equipment

CUSTODIAL
Purchased Services
Lease
Cleaning 68,000                 63,107                 68,000                 
Facilities Operations 43,000                 41,818                 38,000                 
Supplies & Materials 8,000                    9,207                    8,000                    

BUILDINGS
Purchased Services 46,500                 65,318                 82,212                 

Supplies & Materials 2,912                    86                           5,000                    

Equipment

GROUNDS MAINTENANCE
Purchased Sevices 20,500                 20,822                 20,000                 

TRANSPORTATION 305,240               270,000               294,000               

NUTRITION 158,618               155,411               139,369               

DEBT SERVICE 513,857               531,863               512,863               
CAPITAL ASSET BLDG.COMPONT 500,439               

TRANSFER OUT
CONTINGENCY



TOTAL EXPENSES 5,098,852          5,366,720          4,718,847          

PROFIT (LOSS) 49,839                 658,626               19,933                 



Closing Flow of Funds

Close Date: Thursday, February 24, 2022

To: Gem Prep: Nampa Working Group

From: Piper Sandler & Co.

RE: Idaho Housing and Finance Association
Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Gem Prep: Nampa Project)
Series 2022A (Credit Enhancement) and Series 2022B (Credit Enhancement) (Federally Taxable)

The Outline for this Closing Flow of Funds is as follows:
1. Sources and Uses of Funds
2. Underwriter Wire to Trustee
3. Trustee Deposits
4. Trustee Disbursements from Project Fund and Cost of Issuance Fund

Key: 
Piper Sandler & Co. (the "Underwriter")
Zions Bancorporation, N.A. (the "Trustee")
Title One (the "Title Company")
Gem Prep: Nampa (the "Borrower")
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Closing Flow of Funds
Idaho Housing and Finance Association
Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Gem Prep: Nampa Project)
Series 2022A (Credit Enhancement) and Series 2022B (Credit Enhancement) (Federally Taxable)

1. Sources and Uses of Funds

Series 2022A Series 2022B Total
Sources of Funds
Par Amount of the 2022 Bonds 9,875,000.00$ 225,000.00$ 10,100,000.00$  
Net Original Issue Discount (203,924.65) - (203,924.65) 

Total Sources of Funds 9,671,075.35$  225,000.00$  9,896,075.35$  

Uses of Funds
Project Fund 8,976,742.05$  -$  8,976,742.05$  
Debt Service Reserve Fund 500,911.82 11,413.18 512,325.00 
Cost of Issuance 96,710.73 211,336.82 308,047.55 
Underwriters Discount 96,710.75 2,250.00 98,960.75 

Total Uses of Funds 9,671,075.35$  225,000.00$  9,896,075.35$  

2. Underwriter Wire to Trustee

Series 2022A Series 2022B Total
Par Amount 9,875,000.00$  225,000.00$  10,100,000.00$  

Less: Original Issue Discount (203,924.65) - (203,924.65) 
Less: Underwriter's Discount (96,710.75) (2,250.00) (98,960.75) 

Net Purchase Price of the Series 2022 Bonds 9,574,364.60$  222,750.00$  9,797,114.60$  

Wire Instructions for the Trustee are as follows: 0
Amount:

Bank: Zions Bancorporation, NA
d/b/a: Zions Bank Salt Lake City, Utah
ABA: #124000054

Idaho Corporate Trust Account: #080000516
Reference: Paul Hoek (208) 501-7538

Total Underwriter Wire to Trustee 9,797,114.60$          

3. Trustee Deposits
The Trustee shall use the proceeds of the Bonds received from the Underwriter to make the following deposits:

Series 2022A Series 2022B Total
Project Fund 8,976,742.05$  -$  8,976,742.05$  

Debt Service Reserve Fund 500,911.82 11,413.18 512,325.00 
Cost of Issuance Fund 96,710.73 211,336.82 308,047.55 

Total Trustee Deposits 9,574,364.60$  222,750.00$  9,797,114.60$  

Total Trustee Deposits 9,797,114.60$          

4. Trustee Disbursements from Project Fund and Cost of Issuance Fund

A. Title Disbursements
The Trustee shall wire the Title Disbursements as described in the Settlement Statement to the Title Company from the following funds, per the wire instructions below:

Project Fund Cost of Issuance Fund Total
Acquisition 8,937,481.94$ -$ 8,937,481.94$  

Title Charges 30,437.00 - 30,437.00 
Government Recording and Transfer Charges 319.50 - 319.50 

Less: Estimated Buyer Credit (7,119.04) - (7,119.04) 
Total Title Disbursements 8,961,119.40$ -$ 8,961,119.40$

Wire Instructions for the Title Company are as follows: 0 0
Amount: 0

Bank Name:
Bank Address: 0

Account: 0
ABA: 0

Name on Account: 0
Beneficiary: 0

For further credit:
File:

On the morning of February 24, 2022, the Underwriter will wire the par amount from the sale of the Series 2022 Bonds (the "Bonds"), less the net Original Issue Discount,  less the Underwriter's 
Discount to the Trustee, per the wire instructions below:

$9,797,114.60

$8,961,119.40
U.S. Bank
101 S. Capitol Blvd Boise, ID 83702
#153395057521

#21435410

#123103729
TitleOne
TitleOne

Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC, an Idaho limited liability 
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Closing Flow of Funds
Idaho Housing and Finance Association
Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bonds
(Gem Prep: Nampa Project)
Series 2022A (Credit Enhancement) and Series 2022B (Credit Enhancement) (Federally Taxable)

B. Borrower Reimbursements
The Trustee shall wire the Borrower Reimbursements to the Borrower from the following funds, per the wire instructions below:

Project Fund Cost of Issuance Fund Total
IHFA Application 500.00$                                          -$                                         500.00$                         

Phase I ESA 2,300.00                                         -                                           2,300.00                        
ALTA Survey 4,250.00                                         -                                           4,250.00                        

Total Borrower Reimbursements 7,050.00$                                       -$                                         7,050.00$                      

Amount:
Bank Name:

Bank Address:

Bank Phone
ABA:

Account:
Name on Account:

C. State Enhancement Fee

The Trustee shall wire the State Enhancement Fee to the State of Idaho Treasurer from the following funds, per the wire instructions below:

Project Fund Cost of Issuance Fund Total
Total State Enhancement Fee -$                                                50,500.00$                               50,500.00$                    

Amount:
Bank Name:

ABA:
Account:

Name on Account: State Treasurer State of Idaho
Name on Account:

D. Other Cost of Issuance Disbursements
The Trustee shall make the following disbursements for Cost of Issuance from the following funds, upon receipt of invoices:

Firm Role Cost of Issuance Fund
IHFA Issuer 63,125.00$                       invoiced
Skinner Fawcett Bond Counsel 51,500.00                         invoiced
Yorgason Law Offices Local/Borrower Counsel 20,000.00                         invoiced
Ballard Spahr Underwriter Counsel 45,000.00                         invoiced
Givens Pursley Special Opinion Fee 10,000.00                         invoiced
Zions Bancorporation, N.A. Trustee Fee 6,500.00                           invoiced
Zions Bancorporation, N.A. Dissemination Agent (St Treasurer CDA) 500.00                              invoiced
Moody's Rating Agency 36,000.00                         invoiced
ImageMaster Roadshow 1,583.33                           invoiced
ImageMaster Printing 1,750.00                           invoiced
Piper Sandler Underwriter Expenses 4,585.76                           invoiced

240,544.09$                  

Total Project Fund 8,976,742.05$          

Disbursements
Total Title Disbursements 8,961,119.40$          
Total Borrower Reimbursements 7,050.00                   
Total Project Fund Disbursements 8,968,169.40$          

Remaining in Project Fund 8,572.65$                 

Total Cost of Issuance Fund 308,047.55$             

Disbursements
Total Title Disbursements -                            
Total Borrower Reimbursements -                            
Total State Enhancement Fee 50,500.00                 
Total Other Cost of Issuance Disbursements 240,544.09               
Total Cost of Issuance Fund Disbursements 291,044.09               

Remaining in Cost of Issuance Fund 17,003.46$               

Gem Prep: Nampa

Wire Instructions for the State of Idaho Treasurer are as follows:
$50,500.00
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
#121000248
#003080319

#123205054
#4870576859
Gem Prep: Nampa

$7,050.00
Umpqua Bank
609 S. Washington
Moscow, ID 83843
208-882-6504

Wire Instructions for the Borrower are as follows:

Page 3

PIPER I SANDLER 



CI081ng Flow of Funds 
Idaho Housing and Finance Association 
Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bonds 
(Gem Prep: Nampa Project) 

PIPER I SANDLER 

Serles 2022A (Cntdlt Enhancement) and Serles 20228 (Credtt Enhancement) (Federally Taxable) 

Gem Prep: Nampa, LLC 

Signed: 
Bryan Fletcher 
"8: Chief Financial Officer 
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600 North Pearl Street 
Suite 2165 
Dallas, TX 75201 
www.moodys.com 

January 24, 2022 

Wes Olson    
Piper Sandler & Co. 
800 Nicollet Mall, J12NPF 
Minneapolis, MN 55402   

Dear Wes Olson: 

We wish to inform you that on January 19, 2022, Moody’s Investors Service reviewed and assigned an 

• Underlying rating of Ba2 to Gem Prep: Nampa, ID , Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bonds (Gem Prep:
Nampa Project), Series 2022A (Credit Enhancement).

• Underlying rating of Ba2 to Gem Prep: Nampa, ID , Nonprofit Facilities Revenue Bonds (Gem Prep:
Nampa Project), Series 2022B (Credit Enhancement) (Federally Taxable).

Credit ratings issued by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and its affiliates (“Moody’s”) are Moody’s current opinions 
of the relative future credit risk of entities, credit commitments, or debt or debt-like securities and are not 
statements of current or historical fact.  Moody’s credit ratings address credit risk only and do not address any 
other risk, including but not limited to: liquidity risk, market value risk, or price volatility. 

This letter uses capitalized terms and rating symbols that are defined or referenced either in Moody’s Definitions 
and Symbols Guide or MIS Code of Professional Conduct as of the date of this letter, both published on 
www.moodys.com.  The Credit Ratings will be publicly disseminated by Moody’s through normal print and 
electronic media as well as in response to verbal requests to Moody’s Rating Desk.  Moody’s related research 
and analyses will also be published on www.moodys.com and may be further distributed as otherwise agreed in 
writing with us. 

Moody's Credit Ratings or any corresponding outlook, if assigned, will be subject to revision, suspension or 
withdrawal, or may be placed on review, by Moody's at any time, without notice, in the sole discretion of Moody’s.  
For the most current Credit Rating, please visit www.moodys.com.  

Moody’s has not consented and will not consent to being named as an expert under applicable securities laws, 
such as section 7 of the Securities Act of 1933.  The assignment of a rating does not create a fiduciary 
relationship between Moody’s and you or between Moody’s and other recipients of a Credit Rating.  Moody’s 
Credit Ratings are not and do not provide investment advice or recommendations to purchase, sell or hold 
particular securities.  Moody’s issues Credit Ratings with the expectation and understanding that each investor 
will make its own evaluation of each security that is under consideration for purchase, sale or holding.  

Moody’s adopts all necessary measures so that the information it uses in assigning a Credit Rating is of sufficient 
quality and from sources Moody’s considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party 
sources.  However, Moody’s is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently validate or verify 
information received in the rating process.  Moody’s expects and is relying upon you possessing all legal rights 
and required consents to disclose the information to Moody's, and that such information is not subject to any 
restrictions that would prevent use by Moody's for its ratings process. In assigning the Credit Ratings, Moody’s 
has relied upon the truth, accuracy, and completeness of the information supplied by you or on your behalf to 
Moody’s.  Moody’s expects that you will, and is relying upon you to, on an ongoing basis, promptly provide 
Moody’s with all information necessary in order for Moody’s to accurately and timely monitor the Credit Ratings, 
including current financial and statistical information.  
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January 24, 2022 Wes Olson  
Piper Sandler & Co. 
800 Nicollet Mall, J12NPF 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
   

 
 
Under no circumstances shall Moody’s have any liability (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) to any person or 
entity for any loss, injury or damage or cost caused by, resulting from, or relating to, in whole or in part, directly or 
indirectly, any action or error (negligent or otherwise) on the part of, or other circumstance or contingency within 
or outside the control of, Moody’s or any of its or its affiliates’ directors, officers, employees or agents in 
connection with the Credit Ratings.  ALL INFORMATION, INCLUDING THE CREDIT RATING, ANY FEEDBACK 
OR OTHER COMMUNICATION RELATING THERETO IS PROVIDED "AS IS" WITHOUT REPRESENTATION 
OR WARRANTY OF ANY KIND.  MOODY’S MAKES NO REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR 
ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY SUCH INFORMATION. 
Any non-public information discussed with or revealed to you must be kept confidential and only disclosed either 
(i) to your legal counsel acting in their capacity as such; (ii) to your other authorized agents acting in their capacity 
as such with a need to know that have entered into non-disclosure agreements with Moody’s in the form provided 
by Moody’s and (iii) as required by applicable law or regulation.  You agree to cause your employees, affiliates, 
agents and advisors to keep non-public information confidential. 

If there is a conflict between the terms of this rating letter and any related Moody’s rating application, the terms of 
the executed rating application will govern and supercede this rating letter. 

Should you have any questions regarding the above, please do not hesitate to contact Kenneth Surgenor at 214-
979-6848.  
 
Sincerely,  

Moody’s Investors Service Inc 
Moody’s Investors Service Inc 
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Gem Prep: Nampa, ID
Update following positive outlook revision

Summary
The credit profile of Gem Prep: Nampa (Ba2 positive) is gradually strengthening as a result of

the charter school's growing student enrollment and improved operating liquidity. Although

the school's small operating scale is expected to be a long-term credit challenge given

its lack of expansion plans, it will continue to benefit from its capable home office which

successfully manages multiple standalone charter schools throughout the State of Idaho

(Aaa stable) under the Gem Prep organizational umbrella. Our credit view further factors the

schools moderate leverage and low near-term charter renewal risk as its charter was recently

renewed by its authorizer for an additional five-year period through the end of fiscal 2029.

On July 24, 2024 Moody’s Ratings affirmed the school's Ba2 revenue bond rating and revised

its outlook to positive from stable.

Credit strengths

» Solid competitive considerations based on steady enrollment growth, robust student

waitlist, and average academic performance

» Healthy operating performance including sound EBIDA margins and recent bolstering of

nominal liquidity and days cash on hand

» Limited charter renewal risk given recent five-year reauthorization and favorable state

legislative environment

Credit challenges

» Small operating size with annual revenue below $5 million in FY2023

» Moderate debt leverage and exposure to unfunded state pension liabilities

Rating outlook
The positive outlook reflects the likelihood of additional credit strengthening over the near

term should operating revenue and enrollment continue to grow and days cash on hand and

annual debt service coverage remain sound.

Factors that could lead to an upgrade

» Sustained increases to annual operating revenue and student enrollment

» Continued maintenance of annual operating margins in excess of 20% and liquidity above

200 days cash on hand

» Material reduction to the school’s leverage ratios

Appendix H5: Moody’s Updated Credit Rating for Gem Prep: Nampa
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Factors that could lead to a downgrade

» Material weakening of competitive considerations including student enrollment or academic achievement

» Narrowing of annual operating margins or days cash on hand

» Significant increases to the school’s debt leverage ratios

Key indicators

Exhibit 1

Gem Prep: Nampa, ID 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024*

Scale & Demand

Total Enrollment                         437                        425                         457                        498                        509 

Operating Revenue ($000) $3,659 $3,985 $4,614 $4,448 $6,025

Operating Performance & Liquidity

Annual Change in Operating Revenues (%) 34.6% 8.9% 15.8% -3.6% 35.5%

Two-year Average Operating Cash Flow Margin (%) 15.0% 14.4% 14.9% 17.9% 23.3%

Total Cash & Investments ($000) $988 $1,376 $2,646 $2,917 $3,622

Monthly Days Cash on Hand 117 144 246 266 246

Leverage & Coverage

Total Debt ($000) $6,173 $2,278 $10,100 $10,000 $9,835

Debt Service Coverage (x) 1.1x N/A 7.6x 1.7x 3.3x

Spendable Cash & Investments to Debt (%) 16.0% 60.4% 26.2% 29.2% 36.8%

*Estimated
Sources: Moody's Ratings, Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc.

Profile
Gem Prep: Nampa is a nonprofit charter school, located in the City of Nampa, about 20 miles west of downtown Boise (Aa1). The

school operates a single site facility serving roughly 510 students in grades K-12. Gem Prep: Nampa is one of seven member schools

managed by Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc. (GIS) and was chartered by the Canyon County School District 131 (Nampa; A1).

The school’s current contract with its authorizer expires on June 30, 2029.

Detailed credit considerations

Scale and demand

Gem Prep: Nampa will maintain a sound competitive profile, despite competitive pressures, based on the school's growing student

enrollment, deep waitlist of potential students, and growing brand recognition given on-going expansion of schools operated by

GIS. While the school's academic performance largely mirrors that of its local district and state overall, its small class sizes helps to

differentiate it from the Nampa School District, which is one of the largest in the state. The school's total enrollment has grown

roughly 40% from fiscal 2019 to fiscal 2024, and its current waitlist of 229 is equal to 45% of enrollment. The school's facility has a

maximum capacity of about 600 students though management currently reports a long-term target of 574 to keep class sizes relatively

even.

This publication does not announce a credit rating action. For any credit ratings referenced in this publication, please see the issuer/deal page on https://ratings.moodys.com for the

most updated credit rating action information and rating history.
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Exhibit 2

Gem Prep: Nampa's positive enrollment trends are projected to begin to level out
Student enrollment fiscal 2020 through projected fiscal 2029
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Source: Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc.

Operating performance and liquidity

The school's financial position has strengthened over the past few years through a combination of conservative budgeting and revenue

growth driven by increases to state funding, student enrollment and COVID-related federal stimulus. While audited results for fiscal

2024 will not be available for several more month, school management estimates adding roughly $660,000 to its cash balance during

the year, resulting in year-end balance of about $3.6 million. The healthy operating margin is expected to result in annual debt service

coverage of 3.3x and a strong 246 days cash on hand. Going forward we expect the school's fiscal 2025 operating margin to narrow

given the elimination of federal stimulus, though overall debt service coverage and days cash to remain sound.

Exhibit 3

The school's liquidity and operating margin has materially improved over the past few years
Monthly days cash on hand and annual operating margin fiscal 2019 through estimated fiscal 2024
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Sources: Moody's Ratings, Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc.

Leverage

The school's debt leverage is moderate but will slowly improve given expected revenue growth and a lack of additional borrowing plans.

Gem Prep: Nampa issued $10 million in revenue bonds in 2022 to purchase its school facility which it had previously leased. The debt is

structured with relatively even annual debt service of between $494,000 to $512,000 through final maturity in 2057.
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Exhibit 4

Gem Prep: Nampa's leverage increased with 2022 bond issuance and will remain moderate
Debt to annual revenue (x) and spendable cash to total debt (%) fiscal 2019 through estimated fiscal 2024
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ESG considerations

Environmental

Environmental risks are not material to Gem Prep: Nampa's credit profile at this time. The school's most notable environmental

consideration is the region’s elevated risk for water stress and drought, which is an issue throughout much of the Western US. In Idaho,

water stress is mitigated by the Idaho Water Resource Board which is responsible for planning for the conservation, development and

management of water resources. An environmental site assessment was conducted on school’s grounds prior to the issuance of its

2022 bonds and no material environmental issues were found.

Social

Social considerations that factor into the school’s credit profile include its service area’s socioeconomic and demographic

characteristics and trends along with Gem Prep: Nampa’s competitive profile. The school benefits from the City of Nampa's growing

population, expanding labor force, solid income metrics, and good educational attainment. Downside risks include rapidly rising

housing costs. However, Nampa has relatively low exposure to other social risks, including health and safety and residents enjoy good

access to basic services and institutions. Although Gem Prep: Nampa faces stiff competition for students from other educational

service providers, including other nearby schools also operated by GIS, its market position and reputation is expected to remain sound

for the foreseeable future.

Governance

Governance considerations that play a factor in the school’s credit profile include its long-term operational, financial and capital

planning, along with its administration and board’s ability to continue to bolster its competitive profile, including student enrollment.

The school adheres to a standard set of policies and guidelines including, conflict of interest and governing board, employee and staff

policies. The board is relatively small with seven members and may consist of no more than nine members. The members are selected

by a vote of a majority of the board with terms not to exceed five years. The board is experienced with diverse skills and perspectives

applicable to the school’s strategy.

Despite its small operating scale the school benefits from a capable administrative team that operates ten GIS schools. The school also

receives significant advisory support from philanthropic organizations, namely the Albertson Family Foundation and the BLUUM, an

organization that serves as a funding intermediary and local champion for supporting entrepreneurial education ventures in Idaho. This

results in unusually strong financial planning relative to other similarly sized organizations. Monthly financial reports are shared with

the Board of Directors and continuing disclosures and annual financial statements practices are in-line with sector peers.

4          25 July 2024 Gem Prep: Nampa, ID: Update following positive outlook revision



Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

© 2024 Moody’s Corporation, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., Moody’s Analytics, Inc. and/or their licensors and affiliates (collectively, “MOODY’S”). All rights reserved.

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY MOODY'S CREDIT RATINGS AFFILIATES ARE THEIR CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT

COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES, AND MATERIALS, PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND INFORMATION PUBLISHED OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE

BY MOODY’S (COLLECTIVELY, “MATERIALS”) MAY INCLUDE SUCH CURRENT OPINIONS. MOODY’S DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS THE RISK THAT AN ENTITY MAY NOT

MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND ANY ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT OR IMPAIRMENT.

SEE APPLICABLE MOODY’S RATING SYMBOLS AND DEFINITIONS PUBLICATION FOR INFORMATION ON THE TYPES OF CONTRACTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

ADDRESSED BY MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET

VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT RATINGS, NON-CREDIT ASSESSMENTS (“ASSESSMENTS”), AND OTHER OPINIONS INCLUDED IN MOODY’S MATERIALS

ARE NOT STATEMENTS OF CURRENT OR HISTORICAL FACT. MOODY’S MATERIALS MAY ALSO INCLUDE QUANTITATIVE MODEL-BASED ESTIMATES OF CREDIT RISK

AND RELATED OPINIONS OR COMMENTARY PUBLISHED BY MOODY’S ANALYTICS, INC. AND/OR ITS AFFILIATES. MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER

OPINIONS AND MATERIALS DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR PROVIDE INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER

OPINIONS AND MATERIALS ARE NOT AND DO NOT PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. MOODY’S CREDIT

RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS DO NOT COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR ANY PARTICULAR INVESTOR.

MOODY’S ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS AND OTHER OPINIONS AND PUBLISHES OR OTHERWISE MAKES AVAILABLE ITS MATERIALS WITH THE

EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL, WITH DUE CARE, MAKE ITS OWN STUDY AND EVALUATION OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER

CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, OR SALE.

MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS, AND MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY RETAIL INVESTORS AND IT WOULD BE RECKLESS AND

INAPPROPRIATE FOR RETAIL INVESTORS TO USE MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS OR MATERIALS WHEN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION. IF

IN DOUBT YOU SHOULD CONTACT YOUR FINANCIAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISER.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COPYRIGHT LAW, AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED

OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED, FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED, REDISTRIBUTED OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR SUBSEQUENT

USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON WITHOUT MOODY’S PRIOR

WRITTEN CONSENT. FOR CLARITY, NO INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN MAY BE USED TO DEVELOP, IMPROVE, TRAIN OR RETRAIN ANY SOFTWARE PROGRAM OR

DATABASE, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, FOR ANY ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE, MACHINE LEARNING OR NATURAL LANGUAGE PROCESSING SOFTWARE, ALGORITHM,

METHODOLOGY AND/OR MODEL.

MOODY’S CREDIT RATINGS, ASSESSMENTS, OTHER OPINIONS AND MATERIALS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE BY ANY PERSON AS A BENCHMARK AS THAT TERM IS DEFINED

FOR REGULATORY PURPOSES AND MUST NOT BE USED IN ANY WAY THAT COULD RESULT IN THEM BEING CONSIDERED A BENCHMARK.

All information contained herein is obtained by MOODY’S from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. Because of the possibility of human or mechanical error as well

as other factors, however, all information contained herein is provided “AS IS” without warranty of any kind. MOODY'S adopts all necessary measures so that the information it

uses in assigning a credit rating is of sufficient quality and from sources MOODY'S considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent third-party sources. However,

MOODY’S is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate information received in the credit rating process or in preparing its Materials.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY’S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability to any person or entity for any

indirect, special, consequential, or incidental losses or damages whatsoever arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any

such information, even if MOODY’S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors or suppliers is advised in advance of the possibility of such losses or

damages, including but not limited to: (a) any loss of present or prospective profits or (b) any loss or damage arising where the relevant financial instrument is not the subject of a

particular credit rating assigned by MOODY’S.

To the extent permitted by law, MOODY’S and its directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, licensors and suppliers disclaim liability for any direct or compensatory

losses or damages caused to any person or entity, including but not limited to by any negligence (but excluding fraud, willful misconduct or any other type of liability that, for the

avoidance of doubt, by law cannot be excluded) on the part of, or any contingency within or beyond the control of, MOODY’S or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents,

representatives, licensors or suppliers, arising from or in connection with the information contained herein or the use of or inability to use any such information.

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY CREDIT

RATING, ASSESSMENT, OTHER OPINION OR INFORMATION IS GIVEN OR MADE BY MOODY’S IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody’s Corporation (“MCO”), hereby discloses that most issuers of debt securities (including

corporate and municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred stock rated by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. have, prior to assignment of any credit rating,

agreed to pay to Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. for credit ratings opinions and services rendered by it. MCO and Moody’s Investors Service also maintain policies and procedures to

address the independence of Moody’s Investors Service credit ratings and credit rating processes. Information regarding certain affiliations that may exist between directors of MCO

and rated entities, and between entities who hold credit ratings from Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and have also publicly reported to the SEC an ownership interest in MCO of

more than 5%, is posted annually at www.moodys.com under the heading “Investor Relations — Corporate Governance — Charter Documents - Director and Shareholder Affiliation

Policy.”

Moody's SF Japan K.K., Moody's Local AR Agente de Calificación de Riesgo S.A., Moody’s Local BR Agência de Classificação de Risco LTDA, Moody’s Local MX S.A. de C.V, I.C.V.,

Moody's Local PE Clasificadora de Riesgo S.A., and Moody's Local PA Calificadora de Riesgo S.A. (collectively, the “Moody’s Non-NRSRO CRAs”) are all indirectly wholly-owned credit

rating agency subsidiaries of MCO. None of the Moody’s Non-NRSRO CRAs is a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization.

Additional terms for Australia only: Any publication into Australia of this document is pursuant to the Australian Financial Services License of MOODY’S affiliate, Moody’s Investors

Service Pty Limited ABN 61 003 399 657AFSL 336969 and/or Moody’s Analytics Australia Pty Ltd ABN 94 105 136 972 AFSL 383569 (as applicable). This document is intended

to be provided only to “wholesale clients” within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. By continuing to access this document from within Australia, you

represent to MOODY’S that you are, or are accessing the document as a representative of, a “wholesale client” and that neither you nor the entity you represent will directly or

indirectly disseminate this document or its contents to “retail clients” within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. MOODY’S credit rating is an opinion as to

the creditworthiness of a debt obligation of the issuer, not on the equity securities of the issuer or any form of security that is available to retail investors.

Additional terms for India only: Moody’s credit ratings, Assessments, other opinions and Materials are not intended to be and shall not be relied upon or used by any users located in

India in relation to securities listed or proposed to be listed on Indian stock exchanges.

Additional terms with respect to Second Party Opinions (as defined in Moody’s Investors Service Rating Symbols and Definitions): Please note that a Second Party Opinion (“SPO”)

is not a “credit rating”. The issuance of SPOs is not a regulated activity in many jurisdictions, including Singapore. JAPAN: In Japan, development and provision of SPOs fall under the

category of “Ancillary Businesses”, not “Credit Rating Business”, and are not subject to the regulations applicable to “Credit Rating Business” under the Financial Instruments and

Exchange Act of Japan and its relevant regulation. PRC: Any SPO: (1) does not constitute a PRC Green Bond Assessment as defined under any relevant PRC laws or regulations; (2)

cannot be included in any registration statement, offering circular, prospectus or any other documents submitted to the PRC regulatory authorities or otherwise used to satisfy any

PRC regulatory disclosure requirement; and (3) cannot be used within the PRC for any regulatory purpose or for any other purpose which is not permitted under relevant PRC laws or

regulations. For the purposes of this disclaimer, “PRC” refers to the mainland of the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

REPORT NUMBER 1415720

5          25 July 2024 Gem Prep: Nampa, ID: Update following positive outlook revision

http://www.moodys.com/


Moody's Ratings U.S. Public Finance

CLIENT SERVICES

Americas 1-212-553-1653

Asia Pacific 852-3551-3077

Japan 81-3-5408-4100

EMEA 44-20-7772-5454

6          25 July 2024 Gem Prep: Nampa, ID: Update following positive outlook revision



Appendix H6: Professional Services Agreement  















 BOARD ETHICS: TURNER 

 

The Gem Prep Board of Trustees recognizes its role as overseers of public education and are committed to the 
following code of ethics. As a board member, I will: 

Commitments & Appropriate Governance Practices 

1. Remember always that my first and greatest concern must be the educational welfare of the
students attending Gem Prep;

2. Take no private action that will compromise the Board or administration, and I will respect the
confidentiality of information that is privileged under applicable law;

3. Commit to support whistleblowers and constituents as set forth in the official Board Conflict of
Interest Policy;

4. Support the employment of those persons best qualified to serve as school staff and insist on a
regular and impartial evaluation of all staff;

Financial Responsibility & Oversight Expectations 

5. Recognize that the Board’s function is the provision of education and strive to maintain a balance
between fiscal responsibility and accountability for academic results;

6. Avoid being placed in a position of conflict of interest and refrain from using my Board position for
personal partisan gain; adhere to Board policy regarding acceptance of gifts;

7. Make every effort to establish financial practices and reporting that result in accuracy and
transparency; prioritizing spending with consideration given to the school’s mission, vision and
educational program goals;

8. Participate in fundraising activities as deemed necessary and appropriate by the Board;

Policy Development 

9. Render all decisions based on the available facts and my independent judgment, and refuse to
surrender that judgment to individuals or special interest groups;

10. Recognize that I should endeavor to make policy decisions only after full discussions at publicly held
Board meetings; Recognize that all Board decisions can only be transacted at official Board
meetings with the Board as a whole and not as individual members;

11. Work with other Board members to establish effective Board policies and to delegate authority for
the administration of the school to the director; periodically review policies, evaluating
effectiveness and impact on school operations and performance and alignment with applicable
laws, rules and regulations;

Conduct, Meetings & Development 

12. Attend regularly scheduled Board meetings insofar as possible and become informed concerning
the issues to be considered at those meetings;

13. Inform myself about current educational issues by individual study and thorough participation in
programs providing needed information, such as those sponsored by my state and national school
boards associations;

14. Encourage the free expression of opinions by all Board members and seek systematic
communications between the Board and students, staff, and elements of the community;

15. Support the cohesiveness in the School’s culture and will not speak against any final decision
reached by the Board in good faith.

Board of Trustees Code of Ethics 

Appendix H7: Board Ethics Statements
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Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc.
Board Member Agreement, Code of Ethics, Conflict of Interest

Board Member Agreement
I understand that as a member of the Board of Directors of Gem Innovation Schools I have a legal 
and ethical responsibility to ensure that the organization does the best work possible in pursuit of its 
goals. I believe in the purpose and the mission of the organization, and I will act responsibly and 
prudently as its steward.

I have read, understood, and am willing to comply with the Board of Directors Job Description, 
Board Handbook, and the Individual Performance Expectations that outline my responsibilities to 
the Board.

If I ever find myself in a situation where I am unable to fulfill these expectations I will resign from the 
Board.

The Board of Directors recognizes its role as overseers of public education and are committed to the 
following code of ethics. 

Code of Ethics
Ref. Board Policy 1600

As a member of the GIS Board of Directors, I will strive to improve public education, and to that end I will: 

1. Work diligently to build and maintain a relationship of trust and respect with other board members,
the school administrative director, staff, students, parents, and the community;

2. Attend regularly scheduled board meetings insofar as possible and become informed concerning
the issues to be considered at those meetings;

3. Recognize that I should endeavor to make policy decisions only after full discussions at publicly
held board meetings;

4. Render all decisions based on the available facts and my independent judgment, and refuse to
surrender that judgment to individuals or special interest groups;

5. Encourage the free expression of opinions by all board members and seek systematic
communications between the board and students, staff, and elements of the community;

6. Work with other board members to establish effective board policies and to delegate authority for
the administration of the schools to the school administrative director;

7. Communicate to other board members and the school administrative director expressions of
public reactions to board policies and school programs;

8. Inform myself about current educational issues by individual study and through participation in
programs providing needed information, such as those sponsored by my state and national school
boards association;

9. Support the employment of those persons best qualified to serve as school staff and insist on a
regular and impartial evaluation of all staff;
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Gem Innovation Schools of Idaho, Inc.
Board Member Agreement, Code of Ethics, Conflict of Interest

10. Avoid being placed in a position of conflict of interest and refrain from using my board position for 
personal or partisan gain;

11. Take no private action that will compromise the board or administration and respect the 
confidentiality of information that is privileged under applicable law;

12. Remember, always, that my first and greatest concern must be the educational welfare of the 
students attending the public schools.

Conflict of Interest 
Ref: Board Policy #1610

Board members shall serve without compensation, but may be reimbursed for any necessary expenses 
incurred by them in performing their duties as members of the Board. Any contract with the school 

, shall be approved by the full Board 
with the interested member abstaining. Each Board member is responsible to make known to the Board 
any circumstances that could involve a potential conflict of interest. Salary and other remuneration 
received from the school by ex- officio Board members shall not be considered a conflict of interest for 
the purposes of this policy. However, ex- officio members shall abstain from votes involving the level of 
such remuneration. (Full board policy #1610 may be viewed through BoardDocs.)

I have read, understand, and agree to comply with the Code of Ethics and Conflict of 
Interest policies as a member of the Board of Directors of Gem Innovation Schools.

Member, Board of Directors

MASON HARPER
PRINT NAME

_______________________________
SIGNATURE

__________________
DATE

REV. 12/13/2019 
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Code of Ethics
Ref. Board Policy 1600

As a member of the GIS Board of Directors, I will strive to improve public education, and to that end I will:

1. Work diligently to build and maintain a relationship of trust and respect with other board members,
the school administrative director, staff, students, parents, and the community;

2. Attend regularly scheduled board meetings insofar as possible and become informed concerning
the issues to be considered at those meetings;

3. Recognize that I should endeavor to make policy decisions only after full discussions at publicly
held board meetings;

4. Render all decisions based on the available facts and my independent judgment, and refuse to
surrender that judgment to individuals or special interest groups;

5. Encourage the free expression of opinions by all board members and seek systematic
communications between the board and students, staff, and elements of the community;

6. Work with other board members to establish effective board policies and to delegate authority for
the administration of the schools to the school administrative director;

7. Communicate to other board members and the school administrative director expressions of
public reactions to board policies and school programs;

8. Inform myself about current educational issues by individual study and through participation in
programs providing needed information, such as those sponsored by my state and national school
boards association;

9. Support the employment of those persons best qualified to serve as school staff and insist on a
regular and impartial evaluation of all staff;

10. Avoid being placed in a position of conflict of interest and refrain from using my board position for
personal or partisan gain;

11. Take no private action that will compromise the board or administration and respect the
confidentiality of information that is privileged under applicable law;

12. Remember, always, that my first and greatest concern must be the educational welfare of the
students attending the public schools.
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Board of Trustees Code of Ethics 

The Board of Trustees recognizes its role as overseers of public education and are committed to the following 
code of ethics. As a board member, I will: 

Commitments & Appropriate Governance Practices 

1. Remember always that my first and greatest concern must be the educational welfare of the
students attending Gem Innovation Schools;

2. Take no private action that will compromise the Board or administration, and I will respect the
confidentiality of information that is privileged under applicable law;

3. Commit to support whistleblowers and constituents as set forth in the official Board Conflict of
Interest Policy;

4. Support the employment of those persons best qualified to serve as school staff and insist on a
regular and impartial evaluation of all staff;

Financial Responsibility & Oversight Expectations 

5. Recognize that the Board's function is the provision of education and strive to maintain a balance
between fiscal responsibility and accountability for academic results;

6. Avoid being placed in a position of conflict of interest and refrain from using my Board position for
personal partisan gain; adhere to Board policy regarding acceptance of gifts;

7. Make every effort to establish financial practices and reporting that result in accuracy and
transparency; prioritizing spending with consideration given to the school's mission, vision and
educational program goals;

8. Participate in fundraising activities as deemed necessary and appropriate by the Board;

Policy Development 

9. Render all decisions based on the available facts and my independent judgment, and refuse to
surrender that judgment to individuals or special interest groups;

10. Recognize that I should endeavor to make policy decisions only after full discussions at publicly held
Board meetings; Recognize that all Board decisions can only be transacted at official Board
meetings with the Board as a whole and not as individual members;

11. Work with other Board members to establish effective Board policies and to delegate authority for
the administration of the school to the director; periodically review policies, evaluating
effectiveness and impact on school operations and performance and alignment with applicable
laws, rules and regulations;

Conduct, Meetings & Development 

12. Attend regularly scheduled Board meetings insofar as possible and become informed concerning
the issues to be considered at those meetings;

13. Inform myself about current educational issues by individual study and thorough participation in
programs providing needed information, such as those sponsored by my state and national school
boards associations;

14. Encourage the free expression of opinions by all Board members and seek systematic
communications between the Board and students, staff, and elements of the community;

15. Support the cohesiveness in the School's culture and will not speak against any final decision
rea
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	Section 8.1 Dissolving Events. The Company will be dissolved and its affairs wound up in the manner hereinafter provided upon the happening of any of the following events:
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	(c) The bankruptcy of the Company; or
	(d) The occurrence of any event which, under applicable law, would cause the dissolution of the Company; provided, however, that, unless required by applicable law, the Company will not be wound up as a result of any such event and the business of the...

	Section 8.2 Dissolution and Winding-Up. Upon the dissolution of the organization, assets shall be distributed for one or more exempt purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future ...
	Section 8.3  Termination. The Company will terminate when the winding up of the Company’s affairs has been completed, all of the assets of the Company have been distributed, and the Certificate has been canceled.
	Section 8.4 No Personal Liability/Claims of the Sole Member. The Sole Member shall not be personally liable for any debts, liabilities or obligations of the Company, whether to the Company or to the creditors of the Company; and the members of the Boa...

	Article IX  MISCELLANEOUS
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